

PONTIFICIA UNIVERSIDAD
CATOLICA DE CHILE
FACULTAD DE
AGRONOMIA E INGENIERIA
FORESTAL
DIRECCION DE
INVESTIGACION Y
POSTGRADO
MAGISTER EN SISTEMAS DE
PRODUCCIÓN ANIMAL



UNIVERSIDADE FEDERAL DE SANTA CATARINA CENTRO DE CIÊNCIAS AGRÁRIAS PROGRAMA DE PÓS-GRADUÇÃO EM AGROECOSSISTEMAS MESTRADO EM AGROECOSSISTEMAS

# PUBLIC ATTITUDES TOWARDS BEEF PRODUCTION SYSTEMS AND BEEF CONSUMPTION BEHAVIOUR

Tesis presentada como requisito para optar al doble grado de

Magister en Sistemas de Producción Animal y Mestrado em Agroecossistemas

por:

Valentina Mansky de la Fuente

Comité de Tesis Profesores Guías: Daniel Enriquez Hidalgo, María José Hötzel Rafael Larraín Dayane Lemos Teixeira

Enero, 2021 Santiago - Chile/Florianópolis,SC - Brasil

#### **AGRADECIMIENTOS**

En primer lugar, quiero agradecer a la Pontificia Universidad Católica de Chile y la ANID (Proyecto no. 11170822) y también a CONICYT (Proyecto FONDECYT no. 11160697 y proyecto REDI no. 170086) por permitir realizar este trabajo.

Luego me gustaría agradecer a todos los profesores que me tuvieron una infinita paciencia durante el proceso de realización de esta tesis. Al profesor Daniel por su enorme disposición siempre para ayudarme a lograr lo mejor de mí, a la profesora María José por toda su sabiduría y miles de correcciones, a la profesora Day por su buena disposición y ayuda siempre que fue necesario y al profesor Rafael por todo el apoyo. Realmente lamento haber vivido esta experiencia de forma remota y no haber podido vivir la experiencia de una forma más "normal" y con cercanía, sin embargo los miles de kilómetros entre cada uno de los participantes se redujeron en la pantalla del computador y aun así logramos un trabajo en equipo. También les agradezco por haberme apoyado en el intento de hacer el intercambio a Brasil, pero a pesar de que fue frustrado y que sólo pude estar dos semanas allá, rescato muchas cosas que aprendí en el proceso de los dos años de realización del convenio y la inspiración que me dieron para amar lo que estoy haciendo.

Quiero ahora agradecer a todas mis amigas que también han estado siempre conmigo y me tuvieron paciencia cada vez que me quejaba de que tenía que trabajar en la tesis y me siguieron apoyando siempre, al igual que mi familia a la que le tocó vivir un proceso más intenso producto de la cuarentena y tenerme a mí peleando todos los días con la señal de internet y diciendo que debía ir a sentarme al computador y no quería, pero aun así siempre me dieron el ánimo que necesitaba.

Por último quiero agradecer a Toño por acompañarme siempre, creer en mí y darme la energía necesaria cuando me hace falta.

Para terminar más que un agradecimiento quisiera dejar una reflexión para leer en el futuro y es que estamos enfrentando un momento crítico como sociedad producto de la

pandemia, pero espero que tal como mostraron los participantes de esta investigación desarrollemos la empatía y trabajemos juntos día a día para crear un mundo mejor.

A todos quienes siempre me han acompañado

# ÍNDICE

ÍNDICE	5
ÍNDICE DE TABLAS	7
Abstract	8
1 INTRODUCTION	10
2 LITERATURE REVIEW	12
2.1 Beef production and consumption	12
2.2 Beef production systems	13
2.2.1 System's efficiency	15
2.2.2 Environmental impact of beef production systems	16
2.2.3 Animal welfare in beef production systems	19
2.3 Public attitudes and behaviour	21
2.3.1 Conceptualization of attitudes and behaviour	21
2.3.2 Public attitudes towards beef production and beef consumption	22
3 MATERIALS AND METHODS	24
3.1 Survey and data collection	24
3.2 Participants' socio-demographics and characterization	26
3.3 Attitudes towards beef production systems, beef production and beef consumption questions	27
3.4 Statistical analysis	28
3.5 Thematic analysis	29
4 RESUSLTS	31
4.1 Socio-demographic characterization	31
4.2 Attitudes towards beef production systems	32
4.3 Statements agreement	34
4.4 Beef consumption: attitudes and habits	37
4.5 Prospective beef consumption	39
5 DISCUSSION	43
5.1 Support for different beef production systems	43
5.2 Current habits and prospective beef consumption	45
5.3 Demographics and sampling limitations to the interpretation of results	48

6 CONSLUSION	50
Resumen	51
Resumo	52
7 BIBLIOGRAFÍA	53

# **ÍNDICE DE TABLAS**

Table 1. Questions regarding participants' opinions towards beef production systems and beef consumption behaviour.       27
<b>Table 2.</b> Socio demographic information of survey participants for the face-to-face (n = 367) and the online version of the questionnaire (n = 1142)
<b>Table 3.</b> Participants' attitude towards the different beef production systems (Q1a, Q2 and Q3; CONF = Confinement; EXTgra = Extensive grazing; REGgra = Regenerative grazing) (n = 1087)
<b>Table 4.</b> Emerging themes in participants' justification for approval or disapproval the different beef production systems (Q1b; CONF = Confinement; EXTgra = Extensive grazing; REGgra = Regenerative grazing), and percentages of mentions (n=1087)33
<b>Table 5.</b> Factors influencing participants' level of agreement towards 3 different sentences related to beef production systems (Q4a, Q4b, Q4c). Totally disagree or disagree were the reference category
<b>Table 6.</b> Emerging themes in participants' reasons for having reduced or not beef consumption last year, number of mentions and percentages of mentions. (n=1313). Data are presented as percentage of participants (%)
<b>Table 7.</b> Factors influencing participants' intention to reduce beef consumption in 3 to 5 more years (Q7). Maintain beef consumption was the reference category
<b>Table 8.</b> Factors influencing participant's attitude towards what Chileans should do in the future about their beef consumption level (Q10) and the main reasons for it. Chileans should maintain beef consumption was the reference category
<b>Table 9.</b> Factors influencing participants' opinion about future protein sources. Mixed animal protein sources and non-animal sources were the reference category42

# Public attitudes towards beef production systems and beef consumption behaviour

Valentina Mansky de la Fuente

Facultad de Agronomía e Ingeniería Forestal Pontificia Universidad Católica de Chile

CCA – LETA Universidade Federal de Santa Catarina

#### **Abstract**

Valentina Mansky de la Fuente. 2020. Public attitudes towards beef production systems and beef consumption behaviour. Tesis en régimen de doble grado, Magíster en Sistemas de Producción Animal, Facultad de Agronomía e Ingeniería Forestal, Pontificia Universidad Católica de Chile. Santiago, Chile y Mestrado em Agroecossistemas, Centro de Ciencias Agrárias, Universidade Federal de Santa Catarina Florianópolis/SC, Brasil. 70 p. Much is discussed about the different characteristics, efficiency and externalities of different beef production systems, but little is known about how these features influence public attitudes towards beef production. These attitudes may influence decisions regarding beef consumption habits and add to the growing number of people that decide to reduce or stop eating beef. This study aimed, firstly, to explore citizens' attitudes towards beef production systems and beef consumption and the potential influence of provision of information about the systems; secondly, to investigate current and prospected beef consumption and underlying reasons. Chilean citizens were recruited in person or online to participate in a survey, which included information about one productive system (confinement, extensive grazing, regenerative grazing, or no information), and each of them was randomized to one of these questionnaires. Participants (n=1509) had more favourable attitudes towards pasture-based systems than towards confinement, mainly due to concerns with animal welfare and environmental impacts. Provision of information had no effect on participants' responses towards the systems or their current or prospective beef consumption. Half of the participants said they had reduced their meat consumption in the last year for animal welfare or environmental reasons and 42% expected to reduce their consumption in the future. Moreover, 80% expected Chileans to reduce their beef consumption in the future, but most did not trust that this would happen. Additionally, participants believed that there is a need to reduce beef consumption, both personally and at society level. Support for beef production as well as consumption may benefit if production systems adopt characteristics that are perceived by the public as positive for the environment and animal welfare.

Key words: attitudes, beef, confinement, grazing, greenhouse gases, pasture-based.

#### 1 INTRODUCTION

The world's population growth and associated increased income are pushing an increasing demand for animal food products, including beef (FAO, 2018; Masters et al., 2016). Concomitantly, a growing number of people are choosing to avoid or to reduce beef in their diets, particularly in developed countries (Soler & Thomas, 2020; De Gavelle et al., 2019; Vranken et al., 2014). A recent review by Sanchez-Sabate & Sabate (2019) showed that some people are willing to reduce beef consumption due to health and animal welfare concerns. Public support, attitudes, and willingness to pay for beef produced in different beef production systems may also be affected by the characteristics and externalities associated to these systems (Stampa et al., 2020). Buyers and meat consumers in many countries prefer pastured-based products to those produced in confined systems (Xue et al., 2010; Boogard et al., 2010; Yunes et al., 2017). In addition, some consumers are willing to pay more and have more favourable attitudes towards pasture-based beef compared to beef produced in indoor housing systems (Conner et al., 2008; Morales et al., 2013; Garcia-Torres et al., 2016). However, people show little interest in reducing beef consumption for environmental reasons (Fox & Ward, 2008; Ruby, 2012), which may be associated with the low awareness towards environmental consequences that meat production may trigger (i.e. De Boer et al., 2013; Pohjolainen et al., 2016) or they may simply not find a link between beef consumption and climate change (Macdiarmid et al., 2015).

In the last decades, beef production has increased in hand with the growth of intensive and confined cattle production systems (Thornton, 2010). This means that beef production outcomes regarding sustainability of the environment, animal welfare, social and economic aspects have also changed. The modern beef production systems have been effective regarding productivity, and with the looming environmental crisis and increasingly prominent concerns towards sustainability, there is a debate whether productivity is the pillar on which the systems must continue to be developed, given that increased productivity may increase other externalities (Vinnari & Vinnari, 2014). To ensure access for all to eat meat and sustainable production over time, it is necessary to modify beef production and consumption (Schramski *et al.*, 2020; Clark *et al.*, 2020).

The environmental impact of the different beef production systems is an emerging

topic, recently highlighted by the last IPCC reports (IPCC, 2019; IPCC, 2014). Beef production systems differ in characteristics like land management, animal management practices and housing, and overall system productivity, which overall entails different animal welfare and environmental impact (Broom, 2019; Rowntree *et al.*, 2019). Due to these differences, their production efficiency, understood as animal production under the same amount of input resources, may also differ (Van der Werf, 2000). Additionally, differences in efficiency of resources' used may also influence productivity and environmental impact per unit of product provided (Crosson *et al.*, 2011; Godfray & Garnett, 2014).

Public attitudes towards the different dimensions of sustainability need to be better understood and, to the best of our knowledge, citizens' attitudes towards the different beef production systems are still an understudied topic (Sanchez-Sabate & Sabate, 2019).

#### 2 LITERATURE REVIEW

#### 2.1 Beef production and consumption

Agriculture and livestock food production have been accompanying human development for millennia by providing the sources of energy and nutrients. The transition from a society that gathered and hunted for food, to a society of voluntary production of certain species of plants and animals allowed us to become the 7,700 million people inhabiting Earth today. The increase in meat consumption and production has been proportional to the increase in human population, however meat production and consumption has increased considerably since the 1960s, with the rising incomes and middle-income countries development, which have been the meat demand drivers in the last decades (FAO, 2018; Masters et al., 2016). Production increased from 70 million tons per year in 1960 to more than 330 million tons per year in 2018, which is equivalent to a 4-fold increase in 50 years which has allowed to reach a consumption of 43 kg of meat per capita on average in the world (FAOSTAT, 2020). The increase in demand represents a great challenge for both the sustainability and productivity of the meat production sector (Conan et al., 2001) considering that the world will have to increase food production up to 60% by 2050 to feed its increasing population (Alexandratos & Bruinsma, 2012).

Cattle are an important component and source of meat for human diets worldwide, except in the Antarctica (Herring, 2014). In terms of worldwide meat production, beef is the third, after poultry and pigmeat (FAOSTAT, 2020). Currently there are over 1.4 billion cattle heads in the world, which means about one bovine for every five people on the planet. Considering the 65 million tons of beef consumed annually, the vast majority of them end as meals (FAOSTAT, 2020) which means that their rearing and subsequent slaughter are the product of human needs.

In Chile, 3 million cattle heads were destined for milk production, meat or fieldwork in 2018, of which 25% were slaughtered for meat consumption. Average per capita meat consumption in Chile is currently around 79 kg per year, of which 30% corresponds to beef (22 kg of beef/per person) (FAOSTAT, 2020, Ortega *et al.*, 2020). This rate exceeds

the world average of 9 or 10 kg per capita (Masters *et al.*, 2016). It is important to outline that there are high discrepancies in per capita beef consumption, being that some countries exceed the consumption of 100 kg of beef per year, such as Argentina, Uruguay, the United States, New Zealand and Australia, whereas, on the other hand, some countries, like Gambia, Ethiopia and Rwanda barely reach 9kg of beef consumption per person per year (FAOSTAT, 2020).

In contrast to this considerable increase in beef consumption in the last 50 years, an incipient observation on consumers' habit, has shown changes in diets and reduction or elimination of beef from meals, mainly among high-income consumers and in developed countries, motivated mainly by ethical and health concerns (Soler & Thomas, 2020). However, a reduction in meat consumption has not been perceived in the world because the increment on beef demand actually comes from countries where the growth rate is greater. In Chile and like in most of the countries around the world the relative consumption of beef has decreased compared to pork and poultry (FAOSTAT, 2020; USDA, 2002) generating differences in trends for different meats, but not in general consumption.

#### 2.2 Beef production systems

The domestication of cattle ancestors (*Bos taurus*), occurred more than 10,000 years ago in the Middle East, expanding from there to the rest of the world (MacHugh, *et al*, 2017). Since then, some members of this cattle family have been bred for work force, food production and useful purposive materials, reaching today about 1.5 billion animals around the world (FAOSTAT, 2020). These animals are ruminants, which means that they ruminate and regurgitate the food they consumed. Their upper part of their digestive system is made up of four compartments letting them use plant material and digest the food rich in cellulose and fibre with a higher efficiency than other herbivorous mammals and, for this reason, its original habitat were the large grasslands and prairies (Chen *et al.*, 2019). For these reasons, cattle in the past were mostly raised in pastoral systems, in which cattle was allowed to forage their own food. However, since the late 1950s, with the world population increase and the need to produce more food and pursuing a much better efficiency and productivity, intensive confined production systems began to be

developed especially after the "green revolution" within the development of high productivity crops (Fraser, 2008).

Current animal production, specifically beef cattle, is done in either pasture-based or intensive systems. Pasture-based systems are those where animals are kept in herds on pastureland and fed directly from the meadow accessing to a forage-based diet from either perennial or annual forages, without no or little non-forage supplementation (USDA-AMS, 2007). Intensive systems are often landless, animals are housed in confinement and feed is produced by the same breeders or bought to others, and brought to them (Leenstra, 2013). There is also the possibility that livestock rearing is carried out by a mix of both systems, either due to the rearing stages of the animals or the availability of feed in the pastures (Steinfeld & Mäki-Hokkonen, 1995). Within the two types of beef production systems, there are different ways to handle production, animals and feeding managements. For the purpose of this study the confined beef production system and two pasture-based systems, the extensive grazing and the regenerative grazing systems, will be discussed.

Confinement is usually represented in beef production systems as feedlots, which are highly intensified productive systems in which the animals are housed in pens with a high stocking density and given diets with high levels of concentrate and/or grains (Broom, 2019). Despite some variations this type of intensive system usually uses a large amount of external resources, such as growth enhancing hormones or antibiotics and chemical inputs for crop yields for feed and can be established throughout the whole life cycle of the cattle or, most commonly, for the final rearing stage before slaughter (Capper, 2012).

Extensive grazing is the production system in which cattle graze the same grassland for a long part of the grazing season (Crosson *et al.*, 2011) with only occasional changes from one paddock to another, resulting in low instantaneous stocking densities, using relatively large land areas per animal (Allen *et al.*, 2011). External resources such as fertilizers or other chemicals are not usually used or minimized in these beef production systems (Marriott *et al.*, 2009). In extensive grazing systems, the occupation and the recovery time of the paddocks are not considered within the management, so there is no rational sequence or pattern on which paddocks are used. Most of the

extensive grazing systems have been developed in harsh environments, such as dry lands and cold areas unsuitable for crop production (Gerber et al., 2015).

Regenerative grazing, also known as adaptive multi-paddock grazing, or intensive rotational grazing is a way of doing an intensive grazing of the grazing land. It involves short grazing intervals and high instantaneous stocking densities, attained by a frequent change of the cattle from different paddocks. This system is called regenerative because it seeks to regenerate the life of the soil; for the same reason, the use of external and synthetic inputs are avoided or minimized (Teague, 2020). Some of the practical representations of this system, corresponding to different ways of grazing management, are "Voisin's rational grazing" (Voisin,1959), "management-intensive grazing" (Gerrish, 2004) and "holistic planned grazing" (Savory & Butterfield, 1998).

In 2010, a total of 66 million tons of beef were produced, of which 34% came from pasture-based systems, 59% from mixed systems between pasture-based and confinement and 7% from feedlots (Gerber *et al.*, 2013).. However, there is no clear information on the proportion of grazing systems that are extensive, intensive or regenerative. In the U.S., one of the largest beef producing and consuming countries, 97% of the cattle is finished in confinement, in feedlots, and the remaining 3% in pasture-based systems (Stone Barns Center, 2017).

### 2.2.1 System's efficiency

Efficiency, understood as more animal product under the same amount of input resources (Van der Werf, 2000), may differ among the beef production systems due to the differences in management and resources used. Under the given definition of efficiency, the most efficient system among those previously exposed would be the confinement, while regenerative grazing would have a medium efficiency and extensive grazing a lowest efficiency (Roche *et al.*, 2017). Differences in efficiency among systems might produce a variation in production intensity, and consequently increased animal productivity might reduce environmental impact per product provided because it can reduce emissions per kilo of product (Crosson *et al.*, 2011).

There is a line of research and development focused on intensification of

agricultural production, known as "sustainable intensification" which argues that intensive food production systems, may be the solution for future challenge of increased food demand because intensified systems produce more food from the same amount of land (Royal Society, 2009). It is a fact that increased food production and quality protein is currently necessary, and it will also be in the future (FAO, 2008), but setting the sole objective of increasing productivity as a response to this challenge is not sufficient (Godfray & Garnett 2014). So, considering the incipient environmental crisis we are facing and that agriculture and animal production contribute to the crisis (Steinfeld *et al.*, 2006) an increase in productivity without considering other aspects could generate major problems in the sustainability of production and the environment. Therefore, it is necessary to evaluate all the mentioned edges in which a production system affects the environment and its productivity to achieve a complete analysis (Godfray, 2015; (Leenstra, 2013).

Extensive grazing beef production systems with low inputs and labour were the most predominant for a long time in South America (Modernel *et al.*, 2013). However, because of the increased demand for beef, increasingly intensive meat production systems have been adopted and, as a result, the environmental impact of meat production also changed and worsened (Ogino *et al.*, 2016).

#### 2.2.2 Environmental impact of beef production systems

Animal production can affect to the environment positively or negatively depending on the resource usage and management. Some of the most commented effects of beef production on the environment are greenhouse gases emission (GHG), water pollution, soil erosion, biodiversity, nutrient imbalances and land degradation (Steinfield *et al.*, 2006).

Beef production activity is considered one of the main contributors to GHG emissions from anthropogenic origin, with an estimated 7% to 18% of the total GHG emission worldwide (IPCC 2019; IPCC, 2014) it has a higher carbon footprint compared to other animal edible products (Capper, 2012; Geber *et al.*, 2015). Greenhouse gases emitted in beef production are methane (CH<sub>4</sub>), nitrous oxide (N<sub>2</sub>O) and carbon dioxide

(CO<sub>2</sub>) and the main sources of emission are enteric fermentation (methane) followed by urine and manure decomposition (nitrous oxide) (Cerri *et al.*, 2016) Therefore, considering the climate crisis that we are experiencing nowadays and the constant demand increase for beef, it is extremely necessary to reduce GHG emissions in beef production.

One of the options that have been proposed to mitigate or reduce the emission of GHG in beef production is to enhance the efficiency of the systems by increasing productivity per land portion, which would result in a decrease in emissions by surface area (Garnett et al., 2014). Increased efficiency would also mean a decrease in emissions by quantity of final product produced, which means that beef from confined systems would have lower GHG emissions compared to grazing systems, and in turn, regenerative grazing would have lower emissions compared to extensive grazing due to differences in their efficiencies (Campbell et al., 2014). However, estimating the environmental impact of the systems by the amount of emissions per product provided is somewhat a simplistic look, because systems in confinement are more efficient in terms of more beef production per year, compared to the grazing systems. In the confined system is possible to achieve twice as many animals for slaughter compared to grazing systems, which means that emissions per amount of product provided would be lower, but the emissions per land portion would be higher (Broom, 2019). On the other hand, under the previous conceptualization, the soil capacity to capture carbon is being neglected, which turns out to be a key ecosystem issue of the grasslands and an alternative for the mitigation of GHG emitted in beef production (Wang et al., 2015; Griscom et al., 2017). And by using regenerative alternatives for managing grazing livestock, the soil carbon sequestration may benefit, increasing the mitigation power that beef production has on its own emissions (Stanley et al., 2018).

The soil mitigation potential has been underestimated in many studies. When carrying out life cycle analysis (LCA), which is an analysis of the complete production cycle emissions of a product, most of scientific studies have considered that the carbon in the soil is stable and that there is no capture of the GHG emitted there. Nevertheless, well-managed regenerative grazing can results in a reduction in the total emissions if the gases emitted and the amount of carbon captured are considered in the final calculation

(Stanley et al., 2018; Teague & Barnes, 2017; McSherry & Ritchie, 2013). So, if the ecosystem service of carbon sequestration by soils and its potential on the gas emitted mitigation is taken into account, regenerative grazing is more positive, resulting in a smaller carbon footprint compared to confinement and extensive grazing, as they may emit more GHG and comparatively sequester less carbon (Capper, 2012). Therefore, the idea that the carbon footprint is higher in beef production systems compared to other animal production systems depends on the management, the system and mainly on the carbon sequestration potential of the system. However, it is important to take into account that the amount of carbon sequestered can reach a saturation point, minimizing the mitigation power (Machmuller et al., 2015).

Regarding land use, it is known that as a result of the efficiency of conversion and productivity, confinement is the system that uses the least land; in contrast, extensive grazing the one that needs the most for the production of the same amount of product. Beside the amount of land used in each system, the issue of soil erosion - the loss of its top layer - is highly discussed in the beef production sector. Soil erosion can occur for many reasons, including mechanical or chemical intervention, therefore, confinement systems is the system that generates a higher degree of soil erosion, due to the high intensification for feed production, while extensive grazing can produce a medium or high soil erosion (Gerber et al., 2013). Regenerative grazing generates little or no erosion, since cattle occupy each paddock for a short time, and therefore they are not able to generate sufficient mechanical pressure for erosion and destruction of the physical structure of the soil (Pinheiro Machado, 2004; Savory & Butterfield, 2016). Regarding the balance of nutrients, between 55% to 95% of the nitrogen (N), and about 70% of the phosphorus (P) ingested by livestock is excreted as urine or faeces (Menzi et al., 2010). Tehrefore, these nutrients can be recycled and reused for the fertilization of the prairies, returning the nutrients to the soil, or lost through gaseous emissions, draining and runoff. Pasture-based systems have a better balance of nutrients (Savory & Butterfield, 2016). In confined systems, the loss and waste or nutrients these mostly occur due to nutrient excretions that substantially exceed the land absorption capacity (Menzi & Gerber, 2006).

Producers of confinement systems usually buy their food to others or produce it on farm under monoculture systems for the production of the main crops such as com and soybeans and consider a lesser extent forage for feeding animals. Therefore, confinement impacts biodiversity through land conversion, habitats destruction, monocultures, soil erosion and soil contamination with chemical inputs (Machovina, *et al.*, 2015), which translates this into a loss of biodiversity. However, poor grazing management can also lead to the loss of biodiversity as a result of land degradation, selectivity of grazing animals resulting in overgrazing, which can happen in extensive grazing systems (Gerber *et al.*, 2015). On the other hand, good grazing management, i.e., respecting the plants' resting periods, the nutrient cycles and the time of occupation of the paddocks, can generate an increase in biodiversity favouring the proliferation of diverse plant and animal species and microorganism (Savory & Butterfield, 2016; Pinheiro Machado, 2004; Pinherio Machado & Pinheiro Machado Filho, 2016). It should also be noted that as the management of beef production can favour biodiversity, a rich biodiversity could also favour beef production, there is a reciprocal benefit, since greater biodiversity means an increase in the available plant biomass and variety of nutrients for animals (Finn *et al.*, 2013).

### 2.2.3 Animal welfare in beef production systems

Animal welfare concerns have always existed among farmers, animal owners and veterinarians, but after 1964, when Ruth Harrison published her book "Animal Machines", it began to be an important topic for the society. In response to societies' concerns the UK Parliament established the "Brambell committee" to enquire animal welfare (Brambell 1965). Since then, animal welfare has been an ethical concern issue both for society and for scientists who have dedicated themselves to the research and development of this concept, and it has been understood as the animal ability to cope with its external and internal environment (Fraser *et al.*, 1997). The interpretation generally used to evaluate the welfare of animals has been the 5 freedoms that correspond to freedom from hunger and thirst, freedom from discomfort, freedom from pain, injury or disease, freedom to express normal behaviour and freedom from fear and distress (FAWC, 1992; Mellor, 2017). Nevertheless, nowadays the understanding of animal welfare has expanded the barriers of the 5 freedoms and it is considered that the interaction between physiological mechanisms and the generation of particular subjective experiences, which are the

affective states that animal might experience. The affective states that the animal might experience can be either positive or negative, should be evaluated and taken into account, turning the 5 freedoms into 5 domains of potential welfare compromise (Mellor *et al.*, 2020; Mellor, 2012). Regarding the relationship between the affective states of animals and the 5 freedoms mentioned above, animal welfare is not achieved with negative affective states avoidance. Therefore it is not enough just to assess that the animals are free of negative affective states, but it is necessary that the animals have "a life worth living" that can be fostered through the experience of positive affective states (Mellor *et al.*, 2020). As above, it can be inferred that the type of cattle production and housing system can affect their welfare in many ways as the 5 freedoms can be modified between them and adaptation conditions and ability of the animals for each systems are not always the same.

Public concern has been focused on what seems more "natural" or "unnatural" from a human point of view and the effect that naturalness has on animal welfare, because of this, all indoor housing and confined systems have generated a great concern among society (Rusheen et al., 2007). Such response is a product of the perception that exists regarding the restriction of space and movement and the inability in some cases of animals to express their "natural" behaviour (Cardoso et al., 2018; Hötzel et al., 2017). A "natural life" involves cattle grazing. Naturalness is a difficult concept because there is no clear limit to define what is natural for cattle and what is not (Spinka, 2006). However, livestock welfare is not necessarily better in pasture-based systems than in confined systems. As a matter of fact, it is possible that animals in the pasture (an environment perceived as "natural") during the winter months may not have access to enough forage or they may be kept in areas with rough pastureland, with a possible undernutrition affecting their welfare, or may be exposed to extreme climatic conditions, suffering heat or cold distress, parasites, predators attacks and other contagious diseases (Spinka, 2006; Mee & Boyle, 2020). This is an example of why it is necessary to analyse the effect that each systems have on the animal welfare from the three approaches proposed by Fraser et al, (1997) which are the biological functioning of the animal, natural living and the affective state.

Biological functioning refer to the health status and productivity of the animal,

affective states refer to whether the animal is experiencing positive or negative emotional states, and naturalness refers to whether the animal is being able to express its natural and innate behaviour (Fraser *et al.*, 2017). Nevertheless, the third approach is the most difficult to study (von Keyserlingk *et al.*, 2019). There are several studies analysing the welfare of cattle, more specifically of dairy cows in different housing systems (i.e. Arnott, *et al.*, 2016; Costal *et al.*, 2013, Smid *et al.*, 2020) and from these it is concluded that exposure of cattle to pastures may benefit animal welfare, but does not mean that welfare is necessarily better in pasture-based systems than in confinement. However, there is no research that directly evaluates the welfare of cattle raised in different beef production systems or the welfare of cattle in systems under regenerative grazing.

#### 2.3 Public attitudes and behaviour

#### 2.3.1 Conceptualization of attitudes and behaviour

Attitudes arise from peoples' valuation of a particular object, behaviour or process, and can be positive or negative as they resonate with the persons' beliefs (Ajzen, 2001). They represent an individual's degree of favourableness or unfavourableness in front of that particular object depending on what they like and what they don't, as a result of cognitive, affective and behavioural processes (Ajzen & Fishbein, 2000). Attitudes are not static, since they depend on the context and the information that people have regarding the object of evaluation at a respective moment (Zepeda & Deal, 2009) which means that they can change as the person sees himself in another context or receives new information (Wilson et al., 2000). Behaviour is how a person acts or conducts itself towards a particular object (situation, object or stimulus) and attitudes are drivers of behaviour. However, the attitudes-behaviour relationship is quite complex and the existing literature that tries to explain this relationship is guite extensive. Since behaviour is not exclusively dependent on how favourable or unfavourable people's attitude is towards something, because there are many other moderators involved in this relationship and the identification of these moderators has been very important topics in social and psychological investigations (Armitage & Christian, 2003). However, a first step of approach to knowing the reaction of a person towards something are the attitudes.

For the purpose of this research, it is important to consider that the attitudes and behaviours of a person in its role as a citizen may be different since people's attitudes as consumers may be driven by the evaluation of the economic aspects of products and purchasing power, while people in their role as citizens can express their attitudes without considering the economic limitations that they could have as consumers (Grunert, 2006). For this reason, the methodology of this study will be oriented towards citizens and not consumers, so that the economic aspect is not a limitation at the moment of assessing participants attitudes.

#### 2.3.2 Public attitudes towards beef production and beef consumption

In recent decades, various studies have been carried out evaluating the attitudes and opinions of citizens regarding animal production, mainly in most developed countries of Europe and North America (i.e. Spooner *et al.*, 2014; Heleski *et al.*, 2004; Martelli, 2009), but in recent years the amount of research has also increased in less developed countries and in South America (Yunes *et al.*, 2017; Teixeira *et al.*, 2018; Vargas-Bello-Pérez *et al.*, 2017). In addition, considering that social pressure has been one of the main driving forces to improve animal production standards and to adapt systems to public values, assessing citizens' attitudes and preferences is essential to continue developing a more sustainable industry (von Keyserlingk & Hötzel, 2015)

Citizens' preference for pasture-based systems (Teixeira *et al.*, 2018; Conner *et al.*, 2008; Morales *et al.*, 2013), which many consider more "natural" than other systems (Verbeke *et al.*, 2010; Pricket, 2010), is because animal welfare is perceived as better. Animal welfare is perceive as more positive in these systems mainly due to the freedom of movement and space, compared to the restriction to which animals can be subjected in confined systems (Yunes *et al.*, 2017). Consumers are also willing to pay more for beef produced in pasture based than for beef from a confined system (Xue *et al.*, 2010; García-Torres *et al.*, 2016).

Another important aspect for this research regarding the attitudes and consumption of beef are the attitudes and perceptions of vegetarians or vegans. Considering vegetarians as people avoiding all animal products and other products occasionally

eating meat, fish, and poultry (Weinsier, 2020) and vegans as people who only eat vegetable-derived foods and avoid all animal products (Beardsworth & Keil, 1991). As Ruby (2012) mentioned, an increasing number of people are choosing to eliminate beef and meat from their diets, and vegetarianism is a "blossoming field of study"., In this sense, vegetarians have more negative attitudes towards the production and consumption of meat than meat eaters, and vegans have even more negative attitudes than vegetarians (Ruby, 2012; De Backer & Hudders, 2015).

#### **3 MATERIALS AND METHODS**

#### 3.1 Survey and data collection

This study consisted of a survey applied to 1591 Chilean participants, and was carried out in two parts differing in the type of participants' recruitment. The first part of the recruitment was done face-to-face in February 2020 in Santiago de Chile; the second one was done online in April and May 2020, due to the outbreak of Covid-19. In both, data collection was conducted using a self-administered questionnaire, with no interaction between recruiter and respondent after the acceptance to participate. Face-to-face participants were recruited personally in public spaces with a large influx of people (civil registry offices, bus stations, outside notary offices and the international airport), who were awaiting or had free time. The online version of the questionnaire was carried out through Google Forms Online platform (www.docs.google.com). Online participants were recruited through different social networks such as Whatsapp, Instagram, Facebook and by email sharing the questionnaire link and inviting participants to respond and share the survey. Participants were invited to complete a survey about animal production, with no specification of the nature of the issue to reduce self-selection bias. Only participants that were at least 18 years old and had Chilean nationality participated of the study. The identity of the participants was not required.

For both versions of the questionnaire, the 15 first responses were conducted as a pilot study and answers and comments were discussed among the research team and reviewed and some refinements were made to the questionnaire. The final questionnaire included 15 closed questions and 2 open-ended questions. Participants who agreed to participate in the survey were asked to read an informed consent that had to be accepted before starting the questionnaire. It clarified the purpose of the investigation, the anonymity of the participation and how the information collected was going to be used. It also explained that participants did not run any risk by participating in the investigation, that there was no compensation for doing so and that they could withdraw at any time if they wished, without any repercussion.

Participants were randomized into four groups, which corresponded to different type

of information about different housing and beef production systems: one group received no information (NOInf) about the production system and the others received information about one of three beef production systems: confinement (CONF), extensive grazing (EXTgra) or regenerative grazing (REGgra). Participants that received information about the beef production systems (CONF, EXTgra, and REGgra) were first invited to read a description about the respective beef production system that they were assigned, including information about how animals are housed, how much space they have, and some of the main management practices used in each system. It also included information about each system's productivity, greenhouse gases emissions per unit of product, water contamination, soil erosion, biodiversity and carbon sequestration. Information provided in each survey was as follows:

(CONF): "The most common beef productive systems in Chile are confinement and grazing, which can be extensive or intensive. Grazing is the system in which cattle is kept in pastures and get their food directly from it. Confinement is the system in which cattle is kept together within closed spaces or sheds. A smaller space per animal and a smaller area for the production of food that covers the nutritional requirements of the animals is allocated in comparison to grazing systems. This is a highly productive system, generally making low greenhouse gas emissions per kilogram of meat produced, but with low soil carbon sequestration. This system usually generates a high degree of water contamination and soil erosion. Furthermore, this system generally reduces the biodiversity in the ecosystem".

(EXTgra): "The most common beef productive systems in Chile are confinement and grazing, which can be extensive or intensive. Grazing is the system in which cattle is kept in pastures and they get their food directly from it. Extensive grazing is the system in which cattle is left free with a large space per animal in the pastures, allocating a large area for the production of its food. This system has low productivity, generally causing high greenhouse gas emissions per kilogram of meat produced, intermediate or low carbon sequestration and

intermediate or high contamination and soil erosion that also results in low biodiversity"

(REGgra): "The most common beef productive systems in Chile are confinement and grazing, which can be extensive or intensive. Grazing is the system in which cattle is kept in pastures and they get their food directly from it. Intensive or regenerative grazing is a way of managing grazing in which a small space is assigned for the animals for a short period and then they are moved to the next space, controlling the time the animals spend in each paddock. Thus, feeding area is usually intermediate, ensuring that the cattle meet their nutritional requirements. This system has a medium productivity, so it also has medium greenhouse gases emissions per kilogram of meat produced. It is characterized by high carbon sequestration, little water pollution and little or no soil erosion, and it can also lead to increased biodiversity."

For the description of the systems, the characteristics to be defined within each of them were defined and then the information corresponding to each of the systems was obtained from bibliographic sources.

#### 3.2 Participants' socio-demographics and characterization

The first questions addressed participants' socio-demographic information relating to their sex (female; male), age (18–25; 26–35; 36–45; 46–55; 56–65; over 66 years old) and education (no university education; or complete or incomplete university education). They were also asked what their consumption habits in relation to meat (omnivore; vegetarian; vegan; other). For the purpose of the analysis participants were classified as meat consumers (if they consumed beef, pork, poultry, or small ruminants), and as not meat consumers. Participants who were classified as meat consumers were asked how often they ate beef (7 days per week; 3 to 6 times per week; 1 or 2 times per week or less than 1 day per week). Finally, all the respondents were asked if they had

any type of relationship with animal production (yes, I currently have some kind of relationship; I grew up in a place related to animal production or no relationship).

# 3.3 Attitudes towards beef production systems, beef production and beef consumption questions

Thereafter, participants were asked their opinion towards beef production systems and beef consumption behaviour. Questions and options for answers are detailed in Table 1.

**TABLE 1.** Questions regarding participants' opinions towards beef production systems and beef consumption behaviour

	Options
Attitudes towards beef production systems <sup>1</sup>	
(Q1a) do you approve this system of housing and beef production	
and (Q1b) why	
(Q2) would you approve that the beef you normally eat came from this system	From 1: totally disapprove to 5: totally approve
(Q3) do you approve that the system described in the text should be the beef production system of the future	,
Statements of agreement (how much they agree with the given se	ntences) (Q4)
(Q4a) "Beef consumption is bad for human health"	from 0: totally disagree; 4:
(Q4b) "Beef consumption is bad for the environment"	totally agree, or I do not
(Q4c) "Greenhouse gases are emitted in beef production"	know
Beef consuming attitudes and habits	
(Q5) how do you considered your level of beef consumption <sup>2</sup>	Low
(QO) now do you considered your level of beer consumption	Intermediate
	High
	Yes
(Q6a) have you reduced your meat consumption in the last year	No
and (Q6b) why <sup>2</sup>	I do not remember
	Maintain
(Q7) what do you plan to do with your beef consumption in 3 to 5	Reduce
more years <sup>2</sup>	Increase
	Price; health; religion;
(00)	environment; I do not like
(Q8) which was/were the main reason(s) for you to not consuming	the taste; I do not know
beef <sup>3</sup>	how to cook beef; the
Barrier Carlotte and Carlotte	animals; other
Prospective beef consumption	
(Q9) what do you think the Chilean population will do about their	Maintain
beef consumption in the future	Maintain Reduce
(Q10a) what do you think the Chilean population should do	Increase
regarding their beef consumption in the future	IIICIGASE
regarding their beer consumption in the ruture	

(Q10b) which was the main reason for your last answer

(Q11) Which meat or meat substitute you consider that Chileans will eat most in the future, choosing one or more options<sup>4</sup>

Economics; environment; animals; human health; production level; other
Beef; pork; poultry; fish; lamb; vegetable meat substitutes; cultured meat; insects; other

#### 3.4 Statistical analysis

From the initial 1591 questionnaires completed, 82 were excluded for various reasons including responses from non Chileans, repeated responses (due to platform problems), incomplete surveys and responses that were not readable or understandable resulting in 386 face-to-face and 1205 online usable surveys, i.e., a total of 1509 that were considered for analysis.

Responses to the face-to-face questionnaire were transferred to the platform Google Forms Online and all information was automatically transcribed to a Microsoft Excel (version 2013) sheet. Descriptive statistics for the responses were calculated using Microsoft® Excel for Mac and all other statistical analyses were conducted using SAS 9.3. Age 56–65 and over 66 years old, as well as professional involvement and grew up in an agriculture environment were respectively grouped due to the low number of participants in these categories.

An initial exploration for the first three attitude questions (Q1a, Q2 and Q3) was done using Spearman Correlation coefficients. As the questions were highly correlated (R² > 0.82; P < 0.001) the responses were averaged to create an "attitude" construct. These data were normally distributed as evaluated using the Univariate procedure. A generalized linear model (GLM) was then used to evaluate effects on attitudes, including treatment (CONF, EXTgra and REGgra), sex, age, questionnaire type, educational level, meat consumption and involvement with animal production as explanatory variables and all double interactions among them were also included in the model.

Multinomial logistic regression models were used to analyse associations between the type of recruitment and socio-demographic data and opinions regarding agreement with statements about beef consumption and human health (Q4a),

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Only for the participants that received information about the different beef production systems; <sup>2</sup> Only for meat consumers; <sup>3</sup> Only for not meat consumers; <sup>4</sup> Only for online participants

environment (Q4b) and greenhouse gases emission (Q4c). To easy data interpretation, the "totally agree" and "agree" categories as the "totally disagree" and "disagree" categories were respectively grouped. Treatment (CONF, EXTgra and REGgra), sex, age, questionnaire type, educational level, meat consumption and involvement with animal production were included in the model as explanatory variables. For the associations between socio-demographic data and participants' prospective beef consumption (Q7), the explanatory variables initially considered in the multinomial regression model were beef consumption frequency, beef consumption self-assessment (Q5) and reduction in beef consumption last year (Q6). For the question about what Chileans would (Q9) and should (Q10a) do about their prospective beef consumption, the explanatory variables included in the analyses were beef production system, questionnaire type (online or face to face), sex, age, education level, involvement with animal production, meat consumption, beef consumption frequency and what participants thought that Chileans would do about their future beef consumption. The same explanatory variables were used for question about which meat or meat substitute participants considered that Chileans will eat most in the future (Q11).

In both approaches, only the predictor variables with P < 0.20 were initially used to build multivariate models. Finally, the backward selection was used to eliminate predictor variables until only those with P < 0.05 remained in the models. For the normally distributed variables, results are presented as least square means and standard error (LSM  $\pm$  SE); for the categorical and ordinal variables, results are presented as odds ratio (ODDS) and 95% confidence interval (95% CI). Statistics associations were reported when P < 0.05 and tendency when 0.05 < P < 0.1.

#### 3.5 Thematic analysis

The analysis of the two open-ended questions (Q1b and Q6b) were submitted to thematic analysis (Braun & Clarke, 2006). The thematic analysis was done in three stages: coding information (data reduction) organization of the information (data display) and patterns and themes observation and confirmatory tactics (conclusion drawing and verification). To ensure that the coding of themes were appropriate, three readers,

initially, analysed 50 random responses for each of the four treatments and independently developed codes. Then, the three coders (VMdIF and two other independent people) shared and compared their results and discussed discrepancies until agreement was reached for the creation of the codes and future codification of all answers.

#### 4 RESUSLTS

# 4.1 Socio-demographic characterization

Socio-demographic data (Table 2) are shown separately for the face-to-face and the online parts of the questionnaire. Most participants were not involved with animal production, had on-going or completed university education and were meat consumers; 713 (74%) females and 469 (87%) males declared themselves as meat consumers.

**TABLE 2.** Socio demographic information of survey participants for the face-to-face (n = 367) and the online version of the questionnaire (n = 1142).

	Face-	to-face	Onl	Online		Total	
Variable	n	(%)	n	(%)	n	(%)	
Sex							
Male	161	44	380	33	541	36	
Female	206	56	762	67	968	64	
Age							
18 to 25 years old	108	29	390	34	498	33	
26 to 35 years old	99	27	275	24	374	25	
36 to 45 years old	63	17	168	15	231	15	
46 to 55 years old	51	14	171	15	222	15	
56 years old and over	46	13	138	12	184	12	
Beef production system information							
NOInf	106	29	319	28	425	28	
CONF	100	27	252	22	352	23	
EXTgra	96	26	299	26	395	26	
REGgra	65	18	272	24	337	22	
Meat consumption							
Yes	284	77	903	79	1187	79	
No	83	23	239	21	322	21	
Beef consumption frequency							
1 to 2 times per week	167	46	652	57	819	54	
3 to 6 times per week	74	20	211	18	285	19	
Every day	8	2	16	1	24	2	
Less than 1 time per week	33	9	26	2	59	4	
Involvement with animal production							
No	318	87	1009	88	1327	88	
Yes	48	13	133	12	181	12	
Education							
No university education	102	28	214	19	316	21	
University education complete or on-going	265	72	928	81	1193	79	

#### 4.2 Attitudes towards beef production systems

Attitudes evaluated as an attitudinal construct (average of the 3 approval questions of the beef production systems (Q1a, Q2 and Q3) ranged form 1 (negative attitudes) to 5 (positive or favourable attitudes) towards the respective beef production system. Attitudes towards CONF were lower than for EXTgra, which were lower than for REGgra (1.94, 2.83 and 2.94 SEM 0.078; P < 0.001). Participants that had involvement in animal production (2.76 vs. 2.38 SEM 0.068; P < 0.001) had more favourable attitudes towards the beef production systems versus those that without involvement. There were interactions between sex and meat consumption with beef production systems type (Table 3). Males had higher (P < 0.01) attitudes towards CONF than females but both sexes had greater (P < 0.001) attitudes towards both pasture-based systems than for CONF. While meat consumers had greater (P < 0.01) attitudes towards both pasture-based systems, but regardless of their meat consumption habit, both had the lowest attitudes towards CONF.

**TABLE 3.** Participants' attitude towards the different beef production systems (Q1a, Q2 and Q3; CONF = Confinement; EXTgra = Extensive grazing; REGgra = Regenerative grazing) (n = 1087).

	Beef pro	duction s	ystems	P - value			
	CONF	EXTgra	REGgra	SEM	Main effect	Interaction with BPS	
Sex					< 0.05	< 0.05	
		2.84	2.96				
Male	$2.13 (12)^{1}$	(12)	(12)	0.107			
		2.82	2.92				
Female	1.76 (20)	(14)	(19)	0.085			
Meat consumption					< 0.001	< 0.001	
		3.41	3.74				
Yes	2.36 (26)	(28)	(24)	0.070			
No	1.53 (7)	2.24 (8)	2.13 (7)	0.126			

SEM = Standard error of the mean.

Rank = From 1 to 5 (1 = Totally disapprove; 2 = Disapprove; 3 = I do not approve or disapprove; 4 = Approve; 5 = Totally approve).

Ten themes emerged as justifications for the citizens' attitudes towards the systems (Q1b) (Table 4). Some responses included more than one theme so they were

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Percentage of participants for each category in parenthesis.

assigned into multiple themes and some responses had no valid justification, so they were classified as "no justification". The two main themes covered by participants for approving or disapproving their respective beef production system were animal welfare (29%) and environment (23%), the other themes, less mentioned were ethical issues (8%), disagreement with all meat production (6%), productivity (5%), natural system (4%), lack of knowledge (4%), beef quality (3%) indifference (3%), other reasons (2%), and the remaining percentage did not give any justification (14%). While the animal welfare related aspects were the most mentioned reasons for disapproval of the CONF and REGgra, the reasons related to the environment were the most commented for disapproval of the EXTgra. Productivity related aspects were the major reasons for approval of the CONF.

**TABLE 4.** Emerging themes in participants' justification for approval or disapproval the different beef production systems (Q1b; CONF = Confinement; EXTgra = Extensive grazing; REGgra = Regenerative grazing), and percentages of mentions (n=1087).

	CONF				EXTg	ra	REGgra		
	0-1	2	3-4	0-1	2	3-4	0-1	2	3-4
Animal welfare									<u>.</u>
(Space, freedom to move, adequate feeding, animals' feelings, stress, shelter, health and the treatment that humans give them)	40	7	7	7	6	56	35	9	24
Environment									
(Contamination, greenhouse gases, biodiversity, soil erosion, water pollution, air pollution and odours)	18			51	2	8	14	4	39
Beef quality	4	2		1		4	1	2	2
(Nutritional and organoleptic quality)	4	2		'	-	4	'	2	2
Natural system	5	2		0		10	3	2	4
(Natural feeding or housing)	3	2	-	U	-	10	3	2	4
Productivity (Efficiency, sustainability and profitability)	2	7	49	6	-	3	1	4	9
Ethical issues	40			40		4	4.5	2	
(Respect, animal rights, moral and ethics)	13	-	-	10	-	4	15	2	-
Lack of knowledge	0	20	-	-	42	-	1	26	1
Indifference	-	32	-	-	23	1	-	23	-
Disagreement with meat production (No meat should be produced)	5	-	-	14	2	-	22	2	-
Others	1	2	5	0	-	1	2	-	6
No justification	10	27	40	9	26	14	7	26	14

Rank = From 1 to 5 (Disapp = Totally disapprove (0) and disapprove (1); Not app or disapp = I do not approve or disapprove (2); App = Approve (3) and Totally approve (4))

#### 4.3 Statements agreement

For the "Beef is bad for human health" statement (Q4a), more participants did not agree (43%) than agreed (30%), while the rest were in between (23%) or did not know (4%). Instead, for the "Beef is bad for the environment" (Q4b), more participants agreed (50%) than disagreed (27%), 21% were in between and 2% did not know. The same happened for the "Greenhouse gases are emitted in beef production" as more participants agreed (62%) than disagreed (13%), but, there were less participants with a medium level of agreement (12%) and more participants that did not know what to answer (13%).

The level of agreement of participants with the three different sentences related to beef production systems are presented in Table 5. Females had higher odds of reaching a higher level of agreement for the first and second statement compared to males (P < 0.001). Participants over 26 years old had lower odds of agreeing that beef is bad for the environment and that greenhouse gases are emitted in its production versus the younger respondents (P < 0.001), but respondents between 26 to 35 years old had higher odds than younger ones of agreeing that beef is bad for human health (P < 0.05). In addition, participants that did not eat meat had higher odds of agreeing with each of the three statements (P < 0.001) compared to meat consumers. Similarly, respondents with university education had higher odds of agreeing with the second and third statement compared to participants without university education (P < 0.05). In contrast, participants involved with animal production had lower odds of agreeing that beef is bad for the environment versus participants without involvement (P < 0.001). There were also differences in the level of agreement according to the type of questionnaire (online or face-to-face) (P < 0.05). The online respondents had lower odds of agreeing that beef is bad for the environment and that greenhouses gases are emitted in its' production than the respondents of the face-to-face version of the questionnaire, and had lower odds of being neutral for the "Beef consumption is bad for human health" statement.

**TABLE 5.** Factors influencing participants' level of agreement towards 3 different sentences related to beef production systems (Q4a, Q4b, Q4c). Totally disagree or disagree were the reference category.

		Level of agreement								
	No	ot agree	or disagree	Ag	ree or T					
	n	OR	95% CI	n	OR	95% CI	P - value			
(Q4a) "Beef consumption	is ba	d for hun	nan health"							
Sex							< 0.001			
Male	118			120						
Female	234	1.53	1.15-2.03	331	1.76	1.28-2.42				
Age							< 0.05			
18-25	125			162						
26-35	81	0.85	0.59-1.24	134	1.83	1.21-2.76				
36-45	47	0.70	0.46-1.07	62	1.33	0.83-2.11				
46-55	49	0.71	0.46-1.08	23	1.21	0.76-1.93				
56 or more	50	0.98	0.64-1.51	40	1.31	0.79-2.16				
Meat consumption							< 0.001			
Yes	297			226						
No	55	2.34	1.31-4.18	225	8.91	5.29-15				
Animal production involver	nent						< 0.001			
No	313			429						
Yes	39	0.55	0.36-0.82	22	0.26	0.15-0.46				
Questionnaire type							< 0.01			
Face-to-face	102			110						
Online	250	0.62	0.45-0.84	341	0.74	0.53-1.05				

(Q4b) "Beef consun	nption is ba	ad for the	environment"	1			
	Ne	ot agree	or disagree	Α	gree or T		
	n	OR	95% CI	n	OR	95% CI	P - value
Sex							<0.001

Male	142						
Female	172	1.00	0.73-1.38		1.79	1.33-2.4	
Age							< 0.001
18-25	84			335			
26-35	98	0.96	0.61-1.49	189	0.54	0.36-0.8	
36-45	46	0.52	0.32-0.85	97	0.35	0.22-0.54	
46-55	45	0.39	0.24-0.64	77	0.23	0.15-0.35	
56 or more	41	0.45	0.27-0.74	58	0.22	0.13-0.34	
Meat consumption							<0.001
Yes	22			282			
No	292	1.78	0.74-4.29	474	8.17	3.97-16.82	
Animal production involver	ment						<0.001
No	275			707			
Yes	39	0.43	0.28-0.66	49	0.21	0.14-0.32	
Questionnaire type							<0.001
Face-to-face	95			191			
Online	219	0.45	0.31-0.65	565	0.52	0.37-0.74	
Education							< 0.05
No university education	68			133			
University education	246	1.15	0.79-1.68	623	1.58	1.11-2.24	

# (Q4c) "Greenhouse gases are emitted in beef production"

	_	N	Not agree or disagree			gree or To	otally agree	
	_	n	OR	95% CI	n	OR	95% CI	P - value
Age								<0.001
18	8-25	44			374			
26	6-35	339	0.73	0.38-1.41	252	0.62	0.37-1.05	
36	6-45	32	0.68	0.35-1.33	131	0.41	0.24-0.7	
46	6-55	32	0.57	0.29-1.09	106	0.30	0.18-0.51	
56 or m	nore	37	0.66	0.35-1.26	68	0.19	0.11-0.32	
Meat consumption								< 0.001

Yes No	13 171	0.99	0.36-2.71	271 660	3.11	1.46-6.66	
Questionnaire type							<0.05
Face-to-face	44			244			
Online	140	0.67	0.4-1.11	687	0.56	0.37-0.85	
Education							<0.001
No university education	44			153			
University education	140	1.52	0.95-2.44	778	2.19	1.49-3.21	

OR = Odds ratio.

CI = Confidence interval.

Rank from 0 to 4 (0 = "Totally disagree" and 4 = " Totally agree")

# 4.4 Beef consumption: attitudes and habits

Among the 1187 meat consumers participants, 39% of them perceived its' consumption as low, 42% as intermediate and 19% as high (Q5). Fifty percent of participants answered that they have reduced beef consumption during the previous year (Q6a), while 37% did not and the others did not know or did not remember. Almost half of participants (44%) intended to maintain their beef consumption level in the future, 42% intended to reduce and only 1% were willing to increase consumption. The themes that emerged as a reason for having reduced or maintain meat consumption (Q6b) are presented in Table 6. Some responses included more than one theme, so they were assigned into multiple themes and some responses had no valid answer, so they were classified as "no reason".

**TABLE 6**. Emerging themes in participants' reasons for having reduced or not beef consumption last year, number of mentions and percentages of mentions. (n=1313). Data are presented as percentage of participants (%).

Reasons	Reduction of beef consumption			
		Yes		
Health issues	23	28		
(Nutrients, diet, medical recommendation, fats and others)	20	20		
Dependence				
(When the participant's meat consumption depended on other people or factors)	8	5		
Willingness	17	4		
Environmental issues				
(Environmental impact of meat production, resources use or	0	14		
contamination, carbon footprint)				
Animals	0	7		
(Animal welfare issues)	U	,		
Diversification	1	12		
(Consumption of other products of animal origin or other origin)	•	12		
Economic issues	2	11		
(Beef price, price of other products, income or salary)	_			
Organoleptic reasons	3	4		
(Taste, smell or texture)	J	•		
Accesibility	2	2		
(Distance to sales point, beef supply or beef origin)	_	_		
Ethical reasons	0	5		
(Ethics and morals, respect, vegetarians for ethical reasons)	_	-		
Habits	11	0		
(Beef as part of habits)		•		
Others	3	0		
No reasons	30	8		

Among the participants that intended to reduce beef consumption in the future (Q7; Table 7), there were higher odds that they perceived their beef consumption level as high rather than intermediate (P < 0.01), and those who said that they had already reduced beef consumption in the past, had higher odds of intending to reduce it in the future than those who did not (P < 0.001). In addition, there were lower odds that participants involved with animal production intended to reduce beef consumption in the future than those who did not have any type of relation with animal production (P < 0.001).

None of the categories considered in the analysis showed a significant effect on participants' intention to increase their increase their beef consumption (data not shown).

**TABLE 7.** Factors influencing participants' intention to reduce beef consumption in 3 to 5 more years (Q7). Maintain beef consumption was the reference category.

	Reduce beef in the future				
	n	OR	95% CI	P - value	
Beef consumption self assesment				< 0.01	
Intermediate	307				
Low	239	1.18	0.86-1.6		
High	123	1.95	1.38-2.75		
Reduced beef consumption last year				< 0.001	
No	148				
Yes	500	5.47	4.13-7.24		
Involvement with animal production				< 0.001	
No	613				
Yes	56	0.39	0.26-0.58		

OR = Odds ratio.

CI = Confidence Interval

The three main reasons cited by participants to justify not eating beef (Q8) were environmental (31%), animal welfare (31%) and human health (24%). The other reasons were taste (8%), price (2%) and other (4%).

## 4.5 Prospective beef consumption

Participants considered that Chileans should (Q10) maintain (18%), reduce (80%) or increase (2%) their beef consumption, but 46% of the participants considered that Chileans will (Q9) effectively maintain, 47% reduce and 6% increase their beef consumption. Participants not related with animal production had higher odds of saying that Chileans should reduce beef consumption than participants related with animal production (P < 0.001) as also did women compared to men (P < 0.001; Table 8). Participants who ate meat 3 or more times per week had lower odds than those who ate meat only 1 to 2 times per week of saying that Chileans should reduce meat consumption, while those who ate meat less than once a week were more likely to say that Chileans should reduce meat consumption compared to those who consumed meat once or twice

a week (P < 0.001; Table 8). The main reasons given by participants for saying that Chileans should reduce beef consumption (Q10b) were the environment (48%), human health (23%) and for the animals (18%). Participants who mentioned the level of production, human health and economic reasons for changing their beef consumption had lower odds of saying that Chileans should reduce meat consumption compared to those who mentioned the animals as reasons for changing their beef consumption (P < 0.001; Table 8).

**TABLE 8.** Factors influencing participant's attitude towards what Chileans should do in the future about their beef consumption level (Q10) and the main reasons for it. Chileans should maintain beef consumption was the reference category.

	"Chileans should reduce beef consumption"				
	n	OR	95% CI	P - value	
Sex				< 0.001	
Males	376				
Females	826	2	1.45-2.78		
Involvement with animal production				< 0.001	
No	1103				
Yes	99	0.41	0.27-0.63		
Beef consumption frequency				< 0.001	
1 to 2 times per week	659				
3 to 6 times per week	179	0.52	0.36-0.74		
Every day	12	0.23	0.07-0.74		
Less than 1 time per week	156	8.25	2.9-23.42		
Main reasons for changing consumption				< 0.001	
The animals	221				
The environment	538	0.91	0.29-2.83		
The level of production	53	0.03	0.01-0.1		
Human health	272	0.06	0.02-0.16		
Economic reasons	58	0.03	0.01-0.09		
Other	60	0.03	0.01-0.09		

OR = Odds ratios.

CI = 95% confidence interval.

Participants with links with animal production had higher odds of saying that Chileans should increase beef consumption than participants not related to animal production (3.36; 95% CI 1.47 - 7.59; P < 0.001) and saying that Chileans will increase consumption compared to maintaining it (3.48; 95% CI 1.01 - 11.97; P < 0.01). Participants who mentioned the level of production as the reason for changing their beef consumption had lower odds of saying that Chileans should increase meat consumption compared to those who mentioned the animals as reasons for changing their beef consumption (0.08; 95% CI 0.01 - 080; P < 0.001).

The most popular future proteins chose by participants (Q11) were poultry (24%), vegetable meat substitutes (24%), fish (21%) and beef (13%). The least popular options were pork (9%), cultured meat (4%), lamb (3%), insects (1%) and other sources (1%). Participants' responses about future protein sources were influenced by their sex, age, beef consumption frequency and level of education (Table 9). Females had more odds of choosing exclusively non-animal future protein sources than males (P < 0.05). Participants over 26 years had higher odds of choosing exclusively non-animal future protein sources or exclusively animal products compared to participants under 25 years old (P < 0.001). Participants who ate beef between 3 and 6 times per week had higher odds than those who consumed it 1 or 2 times per week of choosing exclusively animal protein sources of protein (P < 0.001); in contrast, participants who ate beef less than one time per week had lower odds of choosing exclusively animal protein sources than those who eat once or twice per week (P < 0.001).

**TABLE 9.** Factors influencing participants' opinion about future protein sources. Mixed animal protein sources and non-animal sources were the reference category.

	Exclusively non-animal protein sources Exclusively animal protein sources		usively non-animal protein sources Exclusive		protein sources		
	n	OR	95% CI	n	OR	95% CI	P - value
Sex							< 0.05
Male	62			182			
Female	173	1.65	1.08-2.51	305	0.99	0.72-1.35	
Age							< 0.001
18 to 25 years old	70			127			
26 to 35 years old	69	2.2	1.32-3.68	118	1.95	1.31-2.91	
36 to 45 years old	35	2.96	1.63-5.36	85	2.43	1.52-3.89	
46 to 55 years old	39	2.7	1.51-4.82	84	2.12	1.33-3.37	
56 years old and over	22	2.12	1.12-4.02	73	2.24	1.38-3.64	
Beef consumption frequency							< 0.001
1-2 times a week	122			308			
3-6 days a week	28	0.89	0.53-1.49	120	1.45	1-2.1	
Every day a week	3	2.86	0.45-18.08	11	3.77	0.8-17.75	
Never	25	0.86	0.5-1.49	25	0.35	0.21-0.6	
Education							< 0.001
No university education	38			123			
University education complete or on-going	197	0.79	0.47-1.32	364	0.45	0.31-0.69	

OR = Odds ratios. CI = 95% confidence interval.

#### **5 DISCUSSION**

## 5.1 Support for different beef production systems

Participants had more positive attitudes towards the pasture-based beef production systems compared to the CONF system, similar to other studies in developed and developing countries (Stampa *et al.*, 2020; Yunes *et al.*, 2017; Schnettler *et al.*, 2009). Animal welfare and environmental impacts were the main reasons underlying support and more positive attitudes towards EXTgra and REGra, respectively, as well as the main reasons for opposition and negative attitudes towards CONF. Only few people disapproved the pasture-based systems, based on concerns with lower productivity, which was the major reason for approval of the CONF. Increased productivity has environmental pros and cons (Campbell *et al.*, 2014; Struik & Kuyper 2017) but participants were not eager to accept a trade-off between the animal welfare and environmental issues with productivity of the CONF.

Animal welfare was one of the main factors shaping of participants' attitudes towards beef production systems. Consumers perceive animal welfare as one of the most important quality attributes in beef (Henchion *et al.*, 2017), and is one of the main reasons underlying preferences for pasture-based systems (Stampa *et al.*, 2020). Citizens often consider space per animal, freedom of movement, grazing and access to pasture important animal welfare attributes (Cardoso *et al.*, 2016; Schuppli *et al.*, 2014; von Keyserlingk & Hötzel, 2014), which could explain the more positive attitude towards EXTgra. Indeed, the greater space availability for cattle in EXTgra than in the other systems was cited as a reason for the positive attitude towards animal welfare in the EXTgra system. Participants perceived that the animals in REGgra have less available space as a result of the greater instantaneous stocking density. In addition, the lack of knowledge about beef production systems and low level of involvement with animal production of the participants would have resulted in a misinterpretation of the space availability in the systems, since the perception of space is not easily communicated (Yunes *et al.*, 2017; Marie, 2016). Therefore, studies with images or visits to the different

beef production systems as in Cummins *et al.*, (2016) may have different impact on citizens' attitudes and warrants further investigation.

Although the general public commonly perceive beef cattle welfare as better in pastured-based than in confined systems, some issues are still a concern. On the one hand, pasture-based systems may reduce the risk factors for some health beef cattle problems (i.e., acidosis, liver abscesses and hoof related pathologies (Tucker *et al.*, 2015)), may allow animals to express their natural behaviours (grazing, better lying/resting behaviour) and result in calmer animals (Arnott *et al.*, 2017; Mee and Boyle, 2020; Stafford and Gregory 2008). On the other hand, cattle in pasture-based systems may be under greater risk of being exposed to parasites, weather extremes and experience malnutrition (Mee and Boyle, 2020), especially under overstocking situations (Stafford and Gregory 2008). To the best of our knowledge, there are no studies comparing beef cattle welfare in EXTgra and REGgra systems. Such information is needed to support an evidence-based discussion of the issue.

Only few (30%) participants agreed with the statement "Beef consumption is bad for human health", which appears as a novelty compared to previously published studies (Hopwood et al., 2020; Fox & Ward, 2008). The existing information regarding the impacts of beef on health is diverse, with authors arguing that beef is harmful for human health (Springmann et al., 2020 Kaluza et al., 2012; Appleby et al., 2011) and others arguing about its benefits (Wyness, 2015; McAfee et al., 2010; Biesalski, 2005). In contrast to other studies (Sanchez-Sabate & Sabate, 2019; Sanchez-Sabate et al., 2019; Macdiarmid et al., 2015) environmental consciousness was markedly present and was important in shaping citizens' attitudes in this study. Participants' awareness regarding the environmental impact of beef production could be observed in the proportion of participants agreeing that beef is bad for the environment and that greenhouse gases are emitted in its production, as well as in the justification for participants not to consume or having reduced beef consumption, and in the amount of participants that thought that Chileans should reduce beef consumption for environmental reasons. The impact of beef production on the environment was also identified among the reasons presented for disapproving CONF and EXTgra and for approving REGgra. Effectively, while it is commonly cited that CONF has lower global warming potential (kg CO<sub>2</sub> equivalent per kg of produced product) than pasture-based systems (i).e., Bragaglio et al., 2017; Godfray & Garnett, 2014), CONF systems may have greater water acidification and eutrophication potential (Bragaglio et al., 2017), may cause soil erosion and land degradation, loss of biodiversity, and have low or no carbon sequestration, than pasture-based systems (Gerber et al., 2013; Stanley et al., 2018). Moreover, some authors have highlighted that the high soil carbon sequestration potential of REGgra may outbalance the greenhouse gasses emissions caused by the system, even resulting in global warming potential abatement (Stanley et al., 2018; Pinheiro Machado, 2004; Rhodes, 2017; Teague & Barnes, 2017). The environmental awareness concerning beef production identified in this study could be related to the increasing media coverage of the impacts of food and meat production on the environment during the last years and the fact that a reduction in meat consumption is repeatedly proposed as a way to mitigate greenhouse gases emissions of anthropogenic origin (Mayes, 2016; Almiron & Zoppeddu, 2014; IPCC 2019; IPCC, 2014). These proposals, however, ignore the fact that some production systems, instead of aggravating the environmental problems, can positively contribute to the food and meat production problem, given that some beef production systems can have positive consequences in the ecosystem such as land restoration, improved resources cycles and biodiversity, and soil carbon sequestration helping to mitigate climate change (Gosnell et al., 2020; Stanley et al., 2018; Pinheiro Machado, 2004). In fact, the REGgra systems, towards which the participants had most positive attitudes, present such potentials, which highlights the need to further develop and popularise these systems.

Providing information about beef production systems influenced only attitudes to beef production systems as differences were found in the attitude construct between the treatments but had minimal effect on the other issues covered in the study. In the statement agreement of beef production and the other consumption questions, no differences were found between the responses of the different treatments. This may be due to the fact that our participants did not trust the information provided, did not take the time to read it consciously, or the information given was not a factor to modify the existing attitude towards a specific topic, as it did not create new knowledge for participants (Zepeda & Deal, 2009).

### 5.2 Current habits and prospective beef consumption

Some participants expressed interest in reducing beef consumption, with those that had already reduced it intending to continue with this behaviour and believing that other Chileans should also reduce beef consumption. In line with participants' attitudes towards the different beef production systems, animal welfare and environmental issues were the main reasons mentioned to justify willingness to reduce beef consumption. In general, intended and expected reduction in beef consumption reflects citizens' negative attitude towards beef production. Sahlin et al. (2020) discussed that eating 'less but better' meat is often equated to sustainable diets, and argued that the definition of both terms is not clear. We can argue that for our participants, eating "less" meant a relative reduction in individual and collective consumption compared to current consumption, whereas "better" meant beef produced in systems with superior animal welfare and environmental performance, represented in this study by REGgra. The development of this system and increased public knowledge about its characteristics and imapets on animal welfare and the environment may lead to greater public support of sustainable production; if well applied, it may contribute with the conservation of natural resources and mitigation of some of the negative consequences that some beef production systems generate in the environment (Savory & Butterfield, 2016; Pinheiro Machado, 2004; Pinheiro Machado & Pinheiro Machado Filho, 2016).

Among the meat consumers of the sample, 50% had reduced their beef consumption and 42% intended to reduce it in the future. Yet, overall beef consumption has been increasing since the 90's in Chile, driven both by an increase in the population and an increase in per capita consumption (Ortega *et al.*, 2020), and also doubled in the developing countries since de 80's (FAO, 2019) and increased globally (FAO, 2020). The large discrepancies shown in these figures and corroborated in the fact that half of the participants said that they had reduced their meat consumption while the increase in average meat consumption in Chile, have been also reported by Hagmann *et al.* (2019). Discrepancies between consumers' self-perceived behaviour and real behaviour may also be partly explained by the social bias that occurs in self-reported research (Sackett, 1979) as it is possible that participants may have responded aiming to present a favourable image of themselves (Van de Mortel, 2008; Higgs & Ruddock, 2020). This may have been motivated by recent proposals by many organizations and institutions of

beef consumption reduction as an alternative to increase food sustainability and to improve human health (see Sahlin *et al.*, 2020). Interestingly, participants who perceived current beef consumption level as high or low rather than intermediate were both more likely to intend to reduce their future beef consumption. Those with high consumption may want to decrease it because they might perceive their consumption as excessive, whereas those who have already decreased meat consumption may have a more positive attitude towards reduction. The latter is supported in the fact that participants that had already decreased consumption had more than 5 times the odds of intending to continue decreasing meat consumption in the future than those who had not.

Although 80% of the sample believed that Chileans should reduce their beef consumption, only 47% believe that they will do it, showing an expectation of change and low confidence for it to actually happen. The reason for the latter may be related to the Chilean context, in which beef consumption is deeply rooted. In the Western societies, including Chile, meat - and specially beef - plays an essential role in society and food (Chiles & Fitzgerald, 2018) turning its consumption into a habit among citizens, which was given as a reason by some participants for not having reduced beef consumption. Additionally, since eating is a cultural act, and beef consumption is rooted in in the Chilean culture (Higgs & Ruddock, 2020), participants may perceive the resistance among Chileans to reduce beef consumption.

A reduction in beef consumption would imply an overall reduction in protein consumption and/or its substitution with other protein sources. The development of beef substitutes is a topic that has had wide coverage during the last years (Tziva *et al.*, 2019). Vegetable meat substitutes and poultry were the most chosen future protein sources, following national and international consumer trends (Hyun *et al.*, 2020; Ortega *et al.*, 2017). Almost 25% of participants chose "vegetable meat substitutes" and 15% chose exclusively non-animal protein sources as the future sources of protein. Acceptance of "vegetable meat substitutes" is still low (Elzerman *et al.*, 2011), but it has been shown that low meat consumption and perception of the environmental impact of meat boost consumption of "vegetable meat substitutes" (Siegrist & Hartmann, 2019). Indeed, the participants who had a more negative attitude towards meat consumption also had higher odds of choosing "vegetable meat substitutes" and the other non-animal protein sources.

Cultured meat had a low level of selection among participants (4%) unlike to what was found in other preliminary studies, where cultured meat had a high level of acceptance among participants (Valente *et al.*, 2019; Bryant & Barnett, 2020). It is possible that this discrepancy is related to the recent uncertainties raised about cultured meat' animal welfare and environmental potential advantages when compared to traditional meat production (Chriki & Hocquette, 2020).

## 5.3 Demographics and sampling limitations to the interpretation of results

The sample obtained, which consists of a higher percentage of females and young people with higher education, is similar to samples obtained in previous surveys carried out online on the same subject (Clonan et al., 2015; Graça et al., 2015; Bollani et al., 2019) allowed to identify influence of some demographics on outcome variables. Females had more negative attitudes towards all beef production systems, as well as more negative perceptions towards beef consumption than males. These results are in agreement with other studies that have reported that women have more negative attitudes towards farm animal welfare, and more often follow low meat and meatless diets, vegetarianism and ethical food choices (Ruby, 2012; Potts & White 2008; Judge & Wilson, 2018). Participants involved in animal production, in contrast, had more favourable attitudes towards the three beef production systems, beef production in general and beef consumption, even agreeing that Chileans should increase their beef consumption, compared to participants not involved with animal production. These findings corroborate other studies that showed that farmers and lay urban citizens have different values on animal production and their husbandry (Cardoso et al., 2019; Umberger et al., 2009; Benard & de Cok, 2013), and supports the idea that farmers and lay urban citizens have different values regarding animal production, which may be the product of urbane lives and unawareness about the productive systems (Pieper et al., 2016; Hötzel et al., 2017).

Differences found between the two versions of the questionnaire (face-to-face vs. online) for the questions that asked about agreement with statements may be related to the different sociodemographic characteristics of the participants of both questionnaires. Online recruitment usually creates bias between the sample and society, as they are only

accessible for people with Internet access (Duffy et al., 2005). However, differences between the online and face-to-face results are common to find even in equivalent samples for the sociodemographic characteristics in both types of recruitment (Blasius & Brandt 2010). The online portion of the sample had a much higher proportion of females, younger people and participants with complete or on-going university education compared to the face-to-face version. Additionally, online surveys usually attract a more knowledgeable, viewpoint-orientated sample than face-to-face surveys (Duffy et al., 2005).

#### **6 CONSLUSION**

Participants had more positive attitudes towards the pasture-based systems than to systems were cattle have no access to pasture. The two main reasons underlying the attitudes towards the systems were animal welfare and the environmental impact they generate. Providing information about the different beef production systems had no effect on participants' responses related to beef production or their meat consumption habits and prospective beef consumption. Participants believed that there is a need to reduce beef consumption, both personally and at society level. Support for beef production as well as consumption may benefit if production systems adopt characteristics that are perceived by the public as positive for the environment and animal welfare.

#### Resumen

Mucho se discute sobre las diferentes características, eficiencia y externalidades de los diferentes sistemas de producción de carne de vacuno, pero se sabe poco sobre cómo estas características influyen en las actitudes de los ciudadanos hacia la industria de producción de carne. Estas actitudes pueden influir en las decisiones sobre los hábitos de consumo de carne de vacuno y aumentar el número de personas que deciden reducirla o dejar de comerla. En primer lugar, este estudio tuvo como objetivo explorar las actitudes de los ciudadanos hacia los sistemas de producción y consumo de carne vacuna y la influencia de la información en los sistemas e investigar el consumo actual de carne de vacuno, su proyección y las razones subyacentes. Para esta investigación, los ciudadanos chilenos fueron reclutados en persona o en línea. Se pidió a los participantes que respondieran un cuestionario que incluía información sobre uno de los sistemas productivos (confinamiento, pastoreo extensivo, pastoreo regenerativo) o ninguna información, y cada uno fue aleatorizado a uno de estos cuestionarios. Los participantes (n = 1509) tuvieron actitudes más favorables hacia los sistemas basados en pasto que hacia el confinamiento, principalmente debido a preocupaciones sobre el bienestar animal y los impactos ambientales. El suministro de información no tuvo ningún efecto en las respuestas de los participantes respecto a los sistemas de producción de carne vacuna, ni en su consumo actual o futuro de carne. La mitad de los participantes dijeron que habían reducido el consumo de carne en el último año por razones ambientales o de bienestar animal y el 42% esperaba reducir el consumo en el futuro. Además, el 80% esperaba que los chilenos redujeran el consumo de carne de res en el futuro, pero la mayoría no confiaba en que esto suceda. Los participantes creen que es necesario reducir el consumo de carne de vacuno, tanto para ellos mismos como para la sociedad en su conjunto. Tanto el apoyo a la producción como el consumo de carne pueden beneficiarse si los sistemas de producción adoptan características que el público percibe como positivas para el medio ambiente y el bienestar animal.

Palabras clave: actitudes, carne de vacuno, confinamiento, pastoreo, gases de efecto invernadero.

#### Resumo

Muito se discute sobre as diferentes características, eficiência e externalidades dos diferentes sistemas de produção de carne bovina, mas pouco se sabe sobre como essas características influenciam as atitudes dos cidadãos em relação à indústria da produção de carne bovina. Essas atitudes podem influenciar as decisões quanto aos hábitos de consumo da carne bovina e aumentar o número de pessoas que decidem reduzir ou parar de comê-las. Em primeiro lugar, este estudo teve como objetivo explorar as atitudes dos cidadãos em relação aos sistemas de produção e consumo de carne bovina e a influência da informação sobre os sistemas; em segundo lugar, averiguar o consumo atual de carne bovina, a sua projeção e as razões subjacentes. Cidadãos chilenos foram recrutados pessoalmente ou online. Os participantes foram convidados a responder um questionário que incluiu informações sobre um dos sistema produtivos (confinamento, pastoreio extensivo, pastoreio regenerativo) ou nenhuma informação, e cada um deles foi randomizado para um desses questionários. Os participantes (n = 1509) tiveram atitudes mais favoráveis em relação aos sistemas a base de pasto do que em relação ao confinamento, principalmente devido a preocupações com o bem-estar animal e impactos ambientais. O fornecimento de informações não teve efeito nas respostas dos participantes sobre os sistemas de produção de carne bovina, nem sobre seu consumo atual ou futuro de carne bovina. Metade dos participantes disse ter reduzido o consumo de carne no último ano por motivos de bem-estar animal ou ambientais e 42% espera reduzir o consumo no futuro. Além disso, 80% esperavam que os chilenos reduzissem o consumo de carne bovina no futuro, mas a maioria não confiava que isso aconteceria. Os participantes acreditam que é necessário reduzir o consumo de carne bovina, tanto próprio quanto da sociedade como um todo. Tanto o apoio à produção quanto ao consumo de carne bovina podem se beneficiar se os sistemas de produção adotarem características percebidas pelo público como positivas para o meio ambiente e o bemestar animal.

Palavras chave: atitudes, carne bovina, confinamento, pastoreio, gases de efeito estufa.

# **7 BIBLIOGRAFÍA**

Aerts, S. (2013). The consumer does not exist: overcoming the citizen/consumer paradox by shifting focus. The Ethics of Consumption, 172–176. doi:10.3920/978-90-8686-784-4\_27

Ajzen, I., & Fishbein, M. (2000). Attitudes and the attitude-behavior relation: Reasoned and automatic processes. European Review of Social Psychology, 11(1), 1–33. doi:10.1080/14792779943000116

Alexandratos, N., & Bruinsma, J. (2012). World agriculture towards 2030/2050: the 2012 revision.

Allen, V. G., Batello, C., Berretta, E. J., Hodgson, J., Kothmann, M., ... Li, X. (2011). An international terminology for grazing lands and grazing animals. Grass and Forage Science, 66(1), 2–28. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2494.2010.00780.x

Almiron, N., & Zoppeddu, M. (2014). Eating meat and climate change: The Media blind spot—A study of Spanish and Italian press coverage. Environmental Communication, 9(3), 307–325. doi:10.1080/17524032.2014.953968

Appleby, P. N., Allen, N. E., & Key, T. J. (2011). Diet, vegetarianism, and cataract risk. The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 93(5), 1128–1135. doi:10.3945/ajcn.110.004028

Armitage, C. J., & Christian, J. (2003). From attitudes to behaviour: Basic and applied research on the theory of planned behaviour. Current Psychology, 22(3), 187–195. doi:10.1007/s12144-003-1015-5

Arnott, G., Ferris, C. P., & O'Connell, N. E. (2016). Review: welfare of dairy cows in continuously housed and pasture-based production systems. Animal, 11(02), 261–273. doi:10.1017/s1751731116001336

Beardsworth, A. D., & Keil, E. T. (1991). Vegetarianism, Veganism, and Meat Avoidance: Recent Trends and Findings. British Food Journal, 93(4), 19–24. doi:10.1108/00070709110135231

Benard, M., de Cock Buning, T. (2013). Exploring the potential of Dutch pig farmers and urban-citizens to learn through frame reflection. Journal Agricultural Environment Ethics 26, 1015–1036 doi.org/10.1007/s10806-013-9438-y

Biesalski, H.-K. (2005). Meat as a component of a healthy diet – are there any risks or benefits if meat is avoided in the diet? Meat Science, 70(3), 509–524. doi:10.1016/j.meatsci.2004.07.017

Blasius, J., & Brandt, M. (2010). Representativeness in online surveys through stratified samples. Bulletin of Sociological Methodology, 107(1), 5-21.

Bollani, L., Bonadonna, A., & Peira, G. (2019). The Millennials' concept of sustainability in the food sector. Sustainability, 11(10), 2984. doi:10.3390/su11102984

Boogaard, B. K., Bock, B. B., Oosting, S. J., Wiskerke, J. S. C., & van der Zijpp, A. J. (2010). Social acceptance of dairy farming: The ambivalence between the two faces of modernity. Journal of Agricultural and Environmental Ethics, 24(3), 259–282. doi:10.1007/s10806-010-9256-4

Bragaglio, A., Napolitano, F., Pacelli, C., Pirlo, G., Sabia, E., Serrapica, F., Serrapica, M., Braghieri, A. (2018). Environmental impacts of Italian beef production: A comparison between different systems. Journal of Cleaner Production, 172, 4033–4043. doi:10.1016/j.jclepro.2017.03.078

Brambell F W R 1965 Report of the Technical Committee to Enquire into the Welfare of Animals kept under Intensive Livestock Husbandry Systems. Her Majesty's Stationery Office: London, UK

Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qualitative Research in Psychology, 3(2), 77–101. doi:10.1191/1478088706qp063oa

Broom, D. (2019). Land and water usage in beef production systems. Animals, 9:6. doi:10.3390/ani9060286

Bryant, C., & Barnett, J. (2020). Consumer acceptance of cultured meat: An updated review (2018–2020). Applied Sciences, 10(15), 5201. doi:10.3390/app10155201

Campbell, B. M., Thornton, P., Zougmoré, R., van Asten, P., & Lipper, L. (2014). Sustainable intensification: What is its role in climate smart agriculture? Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability, 8, 39–43. doi:10.1016/j.cosust.2014.07.002

Capper, J. L. (2012). Is the grass always greener? Comparing the environmental impact of conventional, natural and grass-fed beef production systems. Animals, 2(2), 127–143. doi:10.3390/ani2020127

Cardoso, C. S., Hötzel, M. J., Weary, D. M., Robbins, J. A., & von Keyserlingk, M. A. G. (2016). Imagining the ideal dairy farm. Journal of Dairy Science, 99(2), 1663–1671. doi:10.3168/jds.2015-9925

Cardoso, C. S., von Keyserlingk, M. A. G., & Hötzel, M. J. (2018). Views of dairy farmers, agricultural advisors, and lay citizens on the ideal dairy farm. Journal of Dairy Science. doi:10.3168/jds.2018-14688

Cerri, C. C., Moreira, C. S., Alves, P. A., Raucci, G. S., de Almeida Castigioni, B., Mello, F. F. C., ... & Cerri, C. E. P. (2016). Assessing the carbon footprint of beef cattle in Brazil: a case study with 22 farms in the State of Mato Grosso. Journal of Cleaner Production, 112, 2593–2600. doi:10.1016/j.jclepro.2015.10.072

Chen, L., Qiu, Q., Jiang, Y., Wang, K., Lin, Z., Li, Z., ...& Nie, W. (2019). Large-scale ruminant genome sequencing provides insights into their evolution and distinct traits. Science, 364(6446), eaav6202. doi:10.1126/science.aav6202

Chiara, G. & Ferreira, G. (2012). Dinámica de la ganadería vacuna en uruguay (Serie Técnica No. 196. Montevideo, Uruguay.

Chiles, R. M. &Fitzgerald, A. J. (2018). Why is meat so important in Western history and culture? A genealogical critique of biophysical and political-economic explanations. Agric Hum Values 35, 1–17. doi.org/10.1007/s10460-017-9787-7

Chriki S & Hocquette J. F. (2020) The myth of cultured meat: A review. Front. Nutr. 7:7. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2020.00007

Clark, M. A., Domingo, N. G., Colgan, K., Thakrar, S. K., Tilman, D., Lynch, J., ... & Hill, J. D. (2020). Global food system emissions could preclude achieving the 1.5° and 2° C climate change targets. Science, 370(6517), 705-708. Doi 10.1126/science.aba7357

Clonan, A., Wilson, P., Swift, J. A., Leibovici, D. G., & Holdsworth, M. (2015). Red and processed meat consumption and purchasing behaviours and attitudes: impacts for human health, animal welfare and environmental sustainability. Public Health Nutrition, 18(13), 2446–2456. doi:10.1017/s1368980015000567

Conant, R. T., Paustian, K., & Elliott, E. T. (2001). Grassland management and conversion into grassland: effects on soil carbon. Ecological Applications, 11(2), 343–355. doi:10.1890/1051-0761(2001)011[0343:gmacig]2.0.co;2

Conner, D. S., Campbell-Arvai, V., & Hamm, M. W. (2008). Value in the values: pasture-raised livestock products offer opportunities for reconnecting producers and consumers. Renewable Agriculture and Food Systems, 23(01), 62–69. doi:10.1017/s1742170507002086

Costa, J. H. C., Hötzel, M. J., Longo, C., & Balcão, L. F. (2013). A survey of management practices that influence production and welfare of dairy cattle on family farms in southern Brazil. Journal of Dairy Science, 96(1), 307–317. doi:10.3168/jds.2012-5906

Crosson, P., Shalloo, L., O'Brien, D., Lanigan, G. J., Foley, P. A., Boland, T. M., & Kenny, D. A. (2011). A review of whole farm systems models of greenhouse gas emissions from beef and dairy cattle production systems. Animal Feed Science and Technology, 166. doi:10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2011.04.001

Cummins, A. M., Olynk Widmar, N. J., Croney, C. C., Fulton J. R. (2016) Exploring agritourism experience and perceptions of pork production. Agricultural Sciences,07,239-249. doi: 10.4236/as.2016.74024

De Backer, C. J. S., & Hudders, L. (2015). Meat morals: relationship between meat consumption consumer attitudes towards human and animal welfare and moral behavior. Meat Science, 99, 68–74. doi:10.1016/j.meatsci.2014.08.011

De Boer, J., Schösler, H., & Boersema, J. J. (2013). Climate change and meat eating: An inconvenient couple? Journal of Environmental Psychology, 33, 1–8. doi:10.1016/j.jenvp.2012.09.001

De Gavelle, E., Davidenko, O., Fouillet, H., Delarue, J., Darcel, N., Huneau, J.-F., & Mariotti, F. (2019). Self-declared attitudes and beliefs regarding protein sources are a good prediction of the degree of transition to a low-meat diet in France. Appetite, 104345. doi:10.1016/j.appet.2019.104345

Duffy, B., Smith, K., Terhanina, G. & Bremer, J. (2005). Comparing data from online and face-to-face surveys. International Journal of Market Research, 47(6), 615-639

Elzerman, J. E., Hoek, A. C., van Boekel, M. A. J. S., & Luning, P. A. (2011). Consumer acceptance and appropriateness of meat substitutes in a meal context. Food Quality and Preference, 22(3), 233–240. doi:10.1016/j.foodqual.2010.10.006

FAO, A. (2008). An introduction to the basic concepts of food security. FAO, Rome, Italy.

Finn, J. A., Kirwan, L., Connolly, J., Sebastià, M. T., Helgadottir, A., Baadshaug, O. H., Bélanger, G., Black, A., Brophy, C., Collins, R. P., Čop, J., Dalmannsdóttir, S., ... &., Lüscher, A. (2013). Ecosystem function enhanced by combining four functional types of plant species in intensively managed grassland mixtures: a 3-year continentalscale field experiment. Journal of Applied Ecology, 50: 365–375.

Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations [FAO]. (2018). The state of food security and nutrition in the world. Building climate resilience for food security and nutrition. FAO, IFAD, UNICEF, WFP and WHO Report. http://www.fao.org/3/I9553EN/i9553en.pdf [Accessed July 28, 20020].

Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations [FAO] (2020). Faostats.

Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations [FAO] (2020). Meat & Meat Products. http://www.fao.org/ag/againfo/themes/en/meat/home.html [Accesed August 28, 2020]

Fox, N., & Ward, K. (2008). Health, ethics and environment: A qualitative study of

vegetarian motivations. Appetite, 50(2-3), 422-429. doi:10.1016/j.appet.2007.09.007

Fraser D. (2008) Animal welfare and the intensification of animal production. In: Thompson P.B. (eds) The Ethics of Intensification. The International Library of Environmental, Agricultural and Food Ethics, vol 16. Springer, Dordrecht. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4020-8722-6\_12

Fraser, D., Weary, D. M., Pajor, E. A., & Milligan, B. N. (1997). A scientific conception of animal welfare that reflects ethical concerns. Animal welfare, 6, 187-205.

García-Torres, S., López-Gajardo, A., & Mesías, F. J. (2016). Intensive vs. free-range organic beef. A preference study through consumer liking and conjoint analysis. Meat Science, 114, 114–120. doi:10.1016/j.meatsci.2015.12.019

Garnett, T., Appleby, M. C., Balmford, A., Bateman, I. J., Benton, T. G., Bloomer, P., ...& Godfray, H. C. J. (2013). Sustainable intensification in agriculture: Premises and policies. Science, 341(6141), 33–34. doi:10.1126/science.1234485

Gerber, P. J., Mottet, A., Opio, C. I., Falcucci, A., & Teillard, F. (2015). Environmental impacts of beef production: Review of challenges and perspectives for durability. Meat Science, 109, 2–12. doi:10.1016/j.meatsci.2015.05.013

Gerber, P. J., Steinfeld, H., Henderson, B., Mottet, A., Opio, C., Dijkman, J., & Tempio, G. (2013). Tackling climate change through livestock: a global assessment of emissions and mitigation opportunities. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO), Rome.

Gerrish, J. (2004). Management-intensive grazing: the grassroots of grass farming.

Godfray, H. C. J. (2015). The debate over sustainable intensification. Food Security, 7(2), 199–208. doi:10.1007/s12571-015-0424-2

Godfray, H. C. J., & Garnett, T. (2014). Food security and sustainable intensification. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 369(1639), 20120273–20120273. doi:10.1098/rstb.2012.0273

Gosnell H, Charnley S, Stanley P. (2020). Climate change mitigation as a co-benefit of

regenerative ranching: insights from Australia and the United States. Interface Focus 10: 20200027.doi:10.1098/rsfs.2020.0027

Graça, J., Oliveira, A., & Calheiros, M. M. (2015). Meat, beyond the plate. Data-driven hypotheses for understanding consumer willingness to adopt a more plant-based diet. Appetite, 90, 80–90. doi:10.1016/j.appet.2015.02.037

Griscom, B. W., Adams, J., Ellis, P. W., Houghton, R. A., Lomax, G., Miteva, D. A., ... & Fargione, J. (2017). Natural climate solutions. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 114(44), 11645–11650. doi:10.1073/pnas.1710465114

Hagmann, D., Siegrist, M., & Hartmann, C. (2019). Meat avoidance: motives, alternative proteins and diet quality in a sample of Swiss consumers. Public Health Nutrition, 1–12. doi:10.1017/s1368980019001277

Heleski, C. R., Mertig, A. G., & Zanella, A. J. (2004). Assessing attitudes toward farm animal welfare: A national survey of animal science faculty members1. Journal of Animal Science, 82(9), 2806–2814. doi:10.2527/2004.8292806x

Henchion, M. M., McCarthy, M., & Resconi, V. C. (2017). Beef quality attributes: A systematic review of consumer perspectives. Meat Science, 128, 1–7. doi:10.1016/j.meatsci.2017.01.006

Herring, A. D. (2014). Beef cattle production systems. CABI.

Higgs, S. & Ruddock, H. (2020). "Social influences on eating", in Handbook of Eating and Drinking ed. H. Meiselman (Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020), 277-291.

Hopwood, C. J., Bleidorn, W., Schwaba, T., & Chen, S. (2020). Health, environmental, and animal rights motives for vegetarian eating. PLOS ONE, 15(4), e0230609. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0230609

Hötzel, M. J., Cardoso, C. S., Roslindo, A., & von Keyserlingk, M. A. G. (2017). Citizens' views on the practices of zero-grazing and cow-calf separation in the dairy industry: Does providing information increase acceptability? Journal of Dairy Science, 100(5), 4150–4160. doi:10.3168/jds.2016-11933

Hyun, J. L., Hae, I. Y., Minsu, K., Yun-Sang, C., Cheorun, J. (2020). Current status of meat alternatives and their potential role in the future meat market. Asia-Australian J Anim Sci 0:1. doi.org/10.5713/ajas.20.0419

Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) (2014). Chapter 11 - Agriculture, forestry and other land use (AFOLU) in Climate Change 2014: Mitigation of Climate Change. IPCC Working Group III Contribution to AR5. Cambridge University Press.

Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) (2019). Climate Change and Land: an IPCC special report on climate change, desertification, land degradation, sustainable land management, food security, and greenhouse gas fluxes in terrestrial ecosystems, Ginevra.

Judge, M., & Wilson, M. S. (2018). A dual-process motivational model of attitudes towards vegetarians and vegans. European Journal of Social Psychology 00, 1-10. doi:10.1002/ejsp.2386

Kaluza, J., Wolk, A., & Larsson, S. C. (2012). Red meat consumption and risk of stroke: A meta-analysis of prospective studies. Stroke, 43(10), 2556–2560. doi:10.1161/strokeaha.112.663286

Leenstra, F. (2013) Intensification of animal production and its relation to animal welfare, food security and 'climate smart agriculture. SSN 1570 – 8616

Teixeira, D., Larraín, R., Melo, O., & Hötzel, M. J. (2018). Public opinion towards castration without anaesthesia and lack of access to pasture in beef cattle production. PLOS ONE, 13(1), e0190671. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0190671

Macdiarmid, J. I., Douglas, F., & Campbell, J. (2015). Eating like there's no tomorrow: Public awareness of the environmental impact of food and reluctance to eat less meat as part of a sustainable diet. Appetite, 96, 487–493. doi:10.1016/j.appet.2015.10.011

Machovina, B., Feeley, K. J., & Ripple, W. J. (2015). Biodiversity conservation: The key is reducing meat consumption. Science of The Total Environment, 536, 419-

431. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2015.07.022

MacHugh, D. E., Shriver, M. D., Loftus, R. T., Cunningham, P., & Bradley, D. G. (1997). Microsatellite DNA variation and the evolution, domestication and phylogeography of taurine and zebu cattle (Bos taurus and Bos indicus). Genetics, 146(3), 1071-1086.

Machmuller, M. B., Kramer, M. G., Cyle, T. K., Hill, N., Hancock, D., & Thompson, A. (2015). Emerging land use practices rapidly increase soil organic matter. Nature Communications, 6(1). doi:10.1038/ncomms7995

Marie, M. (2006). Ethics: The new challenge for animal agriculture. Livestock Science, 103(3), 203–207. doi:10.1016/j.livsci.2006.05.006

Marriott, C. A., Hood, K., Fisher, J. M., & Pakeman, R. J. (2009). Long-term impacts of extensive grazing and abandonment on the species composition, richness, diversity and productivity of agricultural grassland. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 134(3-4), 190–200. doi:10.1016/j.agee.2009.07.002

Martelli, G. (2009). Consumers' perception of farm animal welfare: an Italian and European perspective. Italian Journal of Animal Science, 8(sup1), 31–41. doi:10.4081/ijas.2009.s1.31

Masters, W. A., Hall, A., Martinez, E. M., Shi, P., Singh, G., Webb, P., & Mozaffarian, D. (2016). The nutrition transition and agricultural transformation: a Preston curve approach. Agricultural Economics, 47(S1), 97–114. doi:10.1111/agec.12303

Mayes, X. (2016). Livestock and climate change: an analysis of media coverage in the Sydney Morning Herald. In Raphaely, T., & Marinova, D. (Eds.), Impact of meat consumption on health and environmental sustainability 75-105. IGI Global.

McAfee, A. J., McSorley, E. M., Cuskelly, G. J., Moss, B. W., Wallace, J. M. W., Bonham, M. P., & Fearon, A. M. (2010). Red meat consumption: An overview of the risks and benefits. Meat Science, 84(1), 1–13. doi:10.1016/j.meatsci.2009.08.029

McSherry, M. E., & Ritchie, M. E. (2013). Effects of grazing on grassland soil carbon: a global review. Global change biology, 19(5), 1347-1357.

Mee, J. F., & Boyle, L. (2020). Assessing whether dairy cow welfare is "better" in pasture-based than in confinement-based management systems. New Zealand Veterinary Journal, 1–24. doi:10.1080/00480169.2020.1721034

Mellor, D. (2012). Affective States and the Assessment of Laboratory-Induced Animal Welfare Impacts.

Mellor, D. (2017). Operational Details of the Five Domains Model and Its Key Applications to the Assessment and Management of Animal Welfare. Animals, 7(12), 60. doi:10.3390/ani7080060

Mellor, D.J., Beausoleil, N.J., Littlewood, K.E., McLean, A.N., McGreevy, P.D., Jones, B., Wilkins, C. (2020). The 2020 Five domains model: Including human–animal interactions in assessments of animal welfare. Animals 10. 10.3390/ani10101870

Menzi, H., & Gerber, P. (2006). Nutrient balances for improving the use-efficiency of non-renewable resources: experiences from Switzerland and Southeast Asia. Geological Society, London, Special Publications, 266(1), 171–181. doi:10.1144/gsl.sp.2006.266.01.15

Menzi, H., Oenema, O., Burton, C., Shipin, O., Gerber, P.J., Robinson, T., Franceschini, G., (2010). Impacts of intensive livestock production and manure management on the environment. In: H. Steinfeld, H. Mooney, F. Schneider, and L. Neville (editors) Livestock in a Changing Landscape: Drivers, Consequences, and Responses. Washington D.C.: Island Press

Modernel, P., Astigarraga, L., & Picasso, V. (2013). Global versus local environmental impacts of grazing and confined beef production systems. Environmental Research Letters, 8(3), 035052.

Morales, R., Aguiar, A. P. S., Subiabre, I., & Realini, C. E. (2013). Beef acceptability and consumer expectations associated with production systems and marbling. Food Quality

and Preference, 29(2), 166-173. doi:10.1016/j.foodqual.2013.02.006

Oficina de Estudios y Políticas Agrarias [ODEPA] (2020). Boletín de la carne.

Ogino, A., Sommart, K., Subepang, S., Mitsumori, M., Hayashi, K., Yamashita, T., & Tanaka, Y. (2016). Environmental impacts of extensive and intensive beef production systems in Thailand evaluated by life cycle assessment. Journal of Cleaner Production, 112, 22–31. doi:10.1016/j.jclepro.2015.08.110

Ortega, J., Valdés, A., Foster, W. & Aguirre, R. (2020). Ciclo ganadero y oferta de carne bovina en chile, 1980-2018: implicancias de política. ODEPA. https://bibliotecadigital.odepa.gob.cl/bitstream/handle/20.500.12650/70219/cicloGanade ro202007.pdf [Accessed August 7, 2020].

Phillips, C. (2008). Cattle behaviour and welfare. John Wiley & Sons.

Pieper, L., Doherr, M. G., & Heuwieser, W. (2016). Consumers' attitudes about milk quality and fertilization methods in dairy cows in Germany. Journal of Dairy Science, 99(4), 3162–3170. doi:10.3168/jds.2015-10169

Pinheiro Machado, L. C. (2004). Pastoreo racional Voisin: tecnología agroecológica para el tercer milenio. Buenos Aires: Hemisferio Sur.

Pinheiro Machado, L. C. & Pinheiro Machado Filho, L. C. (2016). La dialéctica de la agroecología. Buenos Aires: Hemisferio Sur.

Pohjolainen, P., Tapio, P., Vinnari, M., Jokinen, P., & Räsänen, P. (2016). Consumer consciousness on meat and the environment — Exploring differences. Appetite, 101, 37–45. doi:10.1016/j.appet.2016.02.012

Potts, A., & White, M. (2008). New Zealand vegetarians: At odds with their nation. Society & Animals, 16(4), 336–353. doi:10.1163/156853008x357667

Prickett, R.W. (2010). Consumer preferences for farm animal welfare: results from a telephone survey of US households. Animal Welfare, 19, 335-347.

Rhodes, C. J. (2017). The imperative for regenerative agriculture. Science Progress, 100(1), 80–129. doi:10.3184/003685017x14876775256165

Roche, J. R., Berry, D. P., Bryant, A. M., Burke, C. R., Butler, S. T., Dillon, P. G., ... Macmillan, K. L. (2017). A 100-Year Review: A century of change in temperate grazing dairy systems. Journal of Dairy Science, 100(12), 10189–10233. doi:10.3168/jds.2017-13182

Rowntree, J. E., Ryals, R., DeLonge, M. S., Teague, W. R., Chiavegato, M. B., Byck, P., Wang, T. & Xu, S. (2019). Potential mitigation of midwest grass-finished beef production emissions with soil carbon sequestration in the United States of America. Future of Food: Journal on Food, Agriculture and Society, 4(3), 31-38.

Royal Society. (2009). Reaping the benefits: Science and the sustainable intensification of global agriculture. London: Royal Society.

Ruby, M. B. (2012). Vegetarianism. A blossoming field of study. Appetite, 58(1), 141–150. doi:10.1016/j.appet.2011.09.019

Rushen, J., De Passillé, A. M., Keyserlingk, M. A., & Weary, D. M. (2007). The welfare of cattle (Vol. 5). Springer Science & Business Media.

Sackett, D. L. (1979). Bias in analytic research. Journal of Chronic Diseases, 32(1-2), 51–63. doi:10.1016/0021-9681(79)90012-2

Sahlin, K., Röös, E., & Gordon, L. J. (2020). "Less but better" meat is a sustainability message in need of clarity. Nature Food, 1(9), 520–522. doi:10.1038/s43016-020-00140-5

Sanchez-Sabate, R., and Sabaté, J. (2019). Consumer attitudes towards environmental concerns of meat consumption: A systematic review. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 16(7), 1220.doi:10.3390/ijerph1607122

Sanchez-Sabate, R., Badilla-Briones, Y., & Sabaté, J. (2019). Understanding attitudes towards reducing meat consumption for environmental reasons - A qualitative synthesis review. Sustainability, 11(22), 6295. doi:10.3390/su11226295

Savory, A. & Buttefield, J. (2016). Holistic Management: A commonsense revolution to restore our environment. Washington: Island Press.

Savory, A., & Butterfield, J. (1998). Holistic management: a new framework for decision making. Island press.

Schnettler, B., Vidal, R., Silva, R., Vallejos, L., & Sepúlveda, N. (2009). Consumer willingness to pay for beef meat in a developing country: The effect of information regarding country of origin, price and animal handling prior to slaughter. Food Quality and Preference, 20(2), 156–165. doi:10.1016/j.foodqual.2008.07.006

Schramski, J. R., Woodson, C. B., & Brown, J. H. (2020). Energy use and the sustainability of intensifying food production. Nature Sustainability, 3(4), 257–259. doi:10.1038/s41893-020-0503-z

Schuppli, C. A., von Keyserlingk, M. A. G., & Weary, D. M. (2014). Access to pasture for dairy cows: Responses from an online engagement. Journal of Animal Science, 92(11), 5185–5192. doi:10.2527/jas.2014-7725

Siegrist, M., & Hartmann, C. (2019) Impact of sustainability perception on consumption of organic meat and meat substitutes. Appetite, 132, 196–202. doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2018.09.016

Smid, A.-M. C., Weary, D. M., & von Keyserlingk, M. A. G. (2020). The influence of different types of outdoor access on dairy cattle behavior. Frontiers in Veterinary Science, 7. doi:10.3389/fvets.2020.00257

Soler, L. G., & Thomas, A. (2020). Is there a win–win scenario with increased beef quality and reduced consumption? Review of Agricultural, Food and Environmental Studies. doi:10.1007/s41130-020-00116-w

Spinka, M. (2006). How important is natural behaviour in animal farming systems? Applied Animal Behaviour Science, 100(1-2), 117–128. doi:10.1016/j.applanim.2006.04.006

Spooner, J. M., Schuppli, C. A., & Fraser, D. (2014). Attitudes of Canadian citizens toward farm animal welfare: A qualitative study. Livestock Science, 163, 150–158. doi:10.1016/j.livsci.2014.02.011

Springmann, M., Spajic, L., Clark, M. A., Poore, J., Herforth, A., Webb, P., Scarborough, P. (2020). The healthiness and sustainability of national and global food based dietary guidelines: modelling study. BMJ, m2322. doi:10.1136/bmj.m2322

Stafford, K., & Gregory, N. (2008). Implications of intensification of pastoral animal production on animal welfare. New Zealand Veterinary Journal, 56(6), 274–280. doi:10.1080/00480169.2008.36847

Stampa, E., Schipmann-Schwarze, C., & Hamm, U. (2020). Consumer perceptions, preferences, and behavior regarding pasture-raised livestock products: A review. Food Quality and Preference, 103872. doi:10.1016/j.foodqual.2020.103872

Stanley, P. L., Rowntree, J. E., Beede, D. K., DeLonge, M. S., & Hamm, M. W. (2018). Impacts of soil carbon sequestration on life cycle greenhouse gas emissions in Midwestern USA beef finishing systems. Agricultural Systems, 162, 249–258. doi:10.1016/j.agsy.2018.02.003

Steinfeld, H & Mäki-Hokkonen, J. (1995). A classification of livestock production systems. World Animal Review 84/85, pp. 83-94

Steinfeld, H., Gerber, P., Wassenaar, T., Castel, V. and Haan, C. de, 2006. Livestock's Long Shadow: Environmental Issues and Options. FAO, Rome, Italy

Stone Barns Center for Food and Agriculture, 2017. Back to grass: The market potential for U.S. grassfed beef. http://www.stonebarnscenter.org. [Accessed September 28, 2020]

Struik, P. C., & Kuyper, T. W. (2017). Sustainable intensification in agriculture: the richer shade of green. A review. Agronomy for Sustainable Development, 37(5). doi:10.1007/s13593-017-0445-7

Teague, R. (2020). 316 Regenerative grazing: restoring ecosystem function to improve farm profits. Journal of Animal Science, 98(4), 52-53. doi.org/10.1093/jas/skaa278.094

Teague, R., & Barnes, M. (2017). Grazing management that regenerates ecosystem function and grazingland livelihoods. African Journal of Range & Forage Science, 34(2), 77–86. doi:10.2989/10220119.2017.1334706

Thornton, P. K. (2010). Livestock production: recent trends, future prospects. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 365(1554), 2853–2867. doi:10.1098/rstb.2010.0134 -016-9615-x

Tucker, C. B., Coetzee, J. F., Stookey, J. M., Thomson, D. U., Grandin, T., & Schwartzkopf-Genswein, K. S. (2015). Beef cattle welfare in the USA: identification of priorities for future research. Animal Health Research Reviews, 16(02), 107–124. doi:10.1017/s1466252315000171

Tziva, M., Negro, S. O., Kalfagianni, A., & Hekkert, M. P. (2019). Understanding the protein transition: The rise of plant-based meat substitutes. Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions. doi:10.1016/j.eist.2019.09.004

Umberger, W. J., Boxall, P. C., & Lacy, R. C. (2009). Role of credence and health information in determining US consumers' willingness-to-pay for grass-finished beef. Australian Journal of Agricultural and Resource Economics, 53(4), 603–623. doi:10.1111/j.1467-8489.2009.00466.x

United States Department of Agriculture – Agricultural Marketing Service [USDA-AMS]. (2007). United States Standards for Livestock and Meat Marketing Claims, Grass (Forage) Fed Claim for Ruminant Livestock and the Meat Products Derived From Such Livestock—Docket No. AMS–LS–07–0113; LS–05–09. Washington, DC, USA.

Valente, J. de P. S., Fiedler, R. A., Sucha Heidemann, M., & Molento, C. F. M. (2019). First glimpse on attitudes of highly educated consumers towards cell-based meat and related issues in Brazil. PLOS ONE, 14(8), e0221129. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0221129

Van de Mortel, T. F. (2008). Faking it: social desirability response bias in self-report

research. The Australian Journal of Advanced Nursing25(4), 40.

Van der Werf, J. (2000). Livestock straight-breeding system structures for the sustainable intensification of extensive grazing systems. Developing breeding Strategies for Lower Input Animal Production Environments, 105.

Vargas-Bello-Pérez, E., Miranda-de la Lama, G.C., Teixeira, D. L., Enríquez-Hidalgo, D., Tadich, T., & Lensink, J. (2017). Farm animal welfare influences on markets and consumer attitudes in latin america: The Cases of Mexico, Chile and Brazil. Journal of Agricultural and Environmental Ethics, 30(5), 697–713. doi:10.1007/s10806-017-9695-2

Verbeke, W., Pérez-Cueto, F. J. A., Barcellos, M. D. de, Krystallis, A., & Grunert, K. G. (2010). European citizen and consumer attitudes and preferences regarding beef and pork. Meat Science, 84(2), 284–292. doi:10.1016/j.meatsci.2009.05.001

Vinnari, M., & Vinnari, E. (2014). A framework for sustainability transition: The case of plant-based diets. Journal of Agricultural and Environmental Ethics, 27(3), 369–396. doi:10.1007/s10806-013-9468-5

Voisin, A. (1988). Grass productivity. Island Press.

Von Keyserlingk, M. A. G., & Hötzel, M. J. (2014). The ticking clock: Addressing farm animal welfare in emerging countries. Journal of Agricultural and Environmental Ethics, 28(1), 179–195. doi:10.1007/s10806-014-9518-7

Von Keyserlingk, M. A. G., Rushen, J., de Passillé, A. M., & Weary, D. M. (2009). Invited review: The welfare of dairy cattle—Key concepts and the role of science. Journal of Dairy Science, 92(9), 4101–4111. doi:10.3168/jds.2009-2326

Vranken, L., Avermaete, T., Petalios, D., & Mathijs, E. (2014). Curbing global meat consumption: Emerging evidence of a second nutrition transition. Environmental Science & Policy, 39, 95–106. doi:10.1016/j.envsci.2014.02.009

Wang, T., Teague, W., Park, S., & Bevers, S. (2015). GHG Mitigation Potential of Different Grazing Strategies in the United States Southern Great Plains. Sustainability,

7(10), 13500-13521. doi:10.3390/su71013500

Weinsier, R. (2000). Use of the term vegetarian. The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 71(5), 1211–1212. doi:10.1093/ajcn/71.5.1211

Wilson, T. D., Lindsey, S., & Schooler, T. Y. (2000). A model of dual attitudes. Psychological Review, 107(1), 101–126. doi:10.1037/0033-295x.107.1.101

Wyness, L. (2015). The role of red meat in the diet: nutrition and health benefits. Proceedings of the Nutrition Society, 75(03), 227–232. doi:10.1017/s0029665115004267

Xue, H., Mainville, D., You, W., & Nayga, R. M. (2010). Consumer preferences and willingness to pay for grass-fed beef: Empirical evidence from in-store experiments. Food Quality and Preference, 21(7), 857–866. doi:10.1016/j.foodqual.2010.05.004

Yunes, M., von Keyserlingk, M., & Hötzel, M. (2017). Brazilian citizens' opinions and attitudes about farm animal production systems. Animals, 7(12), 75. doi:10.3390/ani7100075

Zepeda, L., & Deal, D. (2009). Organic and local food consumer behaviour: Alphabet Theory. International Journal of Consumer Studies, 33(6), 697–705. doi:10.1111/j.1470-6431.2009.00814.x